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Independent auditor’s report 
 

 

 

 

To the Shareholders of i-80 Gold Corp. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of i-80 Gold Corp. (“the Company”), which 

comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and 

consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), consolidated statements 

of changes in equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes 

to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 

in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Asset Exchange with Nevada Gold Mines LLC 

Refer to Note 1(b) of the consolidated financial statements.  

 

On October 14, 2021, the Company completed an asset exchange with Nevada Gold Mines LLC 

(“NGM”). The Company acquired the Lone Tree and Buffalo Mountain mineral properties, as well as 

certain processing infrastructure and mining equipment in consideration for the Company’s 40% 

ownership interest in the South Arturo property.  

 

The asset exchange with NGM was determined to be a key audit matter given the significance of the 

transaction to the consolidated financial statements, the complexity of the accounting for transaction 

and that management’s assessment process is complex, highly judgmental and includes high 

estimation uncertainty for the fair values of the net assets acquired.  

 

Our audit procedures included, amongst other procedures: 

 

• Review of the asset exchange agreement to identify and assess relevant terms and 

conditions; 

• Assessment of the qualifications and objectivity of the third-party valuation expert utilized by 

the Company to complete the valuation report for the fair value of the net assets acquired in 

the exchange, as well as the purchase price allocation; 

• Involvement of our internal valuation team to assess management expert’s valuation report 

for the inputs and management’s assumptions, including the valuation of property, plant and 

equipment acquired, comparable transactions used to value the mineral property assets, and 

applicable discount rates used to reflect the Company’s weighted cost of capital; 

• Assessment of the transaction for appropriate accounting under provisions of IFRS; 

 

Financing Package  

Refer to Notes 1(d), 13(i) and 13(ii) of the consolidated financial statements.  

 

During the year, the Company entered into a financing package consisting of a two convertible loans, 

a gold prepay purchase and sale agreement, a silver purchase and sale agreement, and a gold offtake 

agreement. As at December 31, 2021, only the convertible debentures and offtake agreement were 

funded. As part of the financing package, the Company issued 5.5M common share purchase 

warrants. 

 

The funded components of the financing package were determined to be a key audit matter given the 

significance of the transaction to the consolidated financial statements, and that the accounting for the 

financing package was complex and included high estimation uncertainty and significant management 

judgment with respect to valuing the different components of the package.  

 

Our audit procedures included, amongst other procedures: 

 

• Engagement of our financial instrument subject matter specialist to review the financing 

package agreements and accounting conclusions reached by management;  

• Assessment of the qualifications and objectivity of the third-party valuation expert utilized by 

the Company to complete the valuation of the financing package and its components; 

• Engagement of our internal valuation team to assess management expert’s valuation report 

for the methodology applied, as well as the inputs and assumptions, including the volatility, 

credit spread, and discount rates and;   

• Confirmation of the key terms of the financing package directly with the lender. 
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Acquisition of Ruby Hill Mining Company LLC 

Refer to Note 1(b) of the consolidated financial statements.  

 

On October 18, 2021, the Company acquired Ruby Hill Mining Company LLC (“Ruby Hill”). Ruby Hill 

has an operating open pit mine as well as other mineral property deposits for potential exploration and 

development. Consideration for the transaction included cash, common shares, and future milestone 

payments.  

 

The Ruby Hill business acquisition was determined to be a key audit matter given the significance of 

the transaction to the consolidated financial statements, and that management’s assessment process 

is complex, highly judgmental and includes estimation uncertainty for the fair values of the net assets 

acquired and the fair value of the contingent consideration.  

 

Our audit procedures included, amongst other procedures: 

 

• Review of the purchase agreement to identify and assess relevant terms and conditions; 

• Assessment of the qualifications and objectivity of the third-party valuation expert utilized by 

the Company to complete the valuation report for the fair value of the net assets acquired in 

the exchange, as well as the purchase price allocation; 

• Engagement of our internal valuation team to assess management expert’s valuation report 

for the inputs and assumptions, including the valuation of property, plant and equipment 

acquired, comparable transactions used to value the mineral property assets, valuation of 

contingent consideration and applicable discount rates used to reflect the Company’s 

weighted cost of capital; 

• Assessment of the transaction for appropriate accounting under provisions of IFRS; 

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report 

Thereon  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

Management Discussion and Analysis but does not include the consolidated financial statements and 

our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 

to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Consolidated Financial Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 

liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.   

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 

We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period 

and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 

or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because of the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Mark Irwin. 

 

 

 
 

Toronto, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 

March 28, 2022 Licensed Public Accountants 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

December 31, December 31,
Note 2021 2021

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 $ 87,658 $ 15,239
Receivables 393 1,528
Receivable from related parties 6 - 10,347
Inventory 7 26,000 4,417
Prepaids and deposits 4,795 2,927
Other assets 8 2,650 -
Total current assets 121,496 34,458
Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 10 30,777 5,494
Long-term inventory 7 - 3,125
Long-term receivable 9 1,427 -
Property, plant and equipment 11 502,649 100,155
Total non-current assets 534,853 108,774
Total assets $ 656,349 $ 143,232

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 8,533 $ 113
Accrued liabilities 5,533 14,751
Taxes payable - 952
Due to related parties - 64,767
Loan payable to Premier Gold Mines Limited 12 - 70,496
Current portion of long-term debt 13 58 -
Current provision for environmental rehabilitation 14 - 49
Current portion of other liabilities 15 15,795 332
Total current liabilities 29,919 151,460
Non-current liabilities
Deferred taxes 23 19,853 -
Long-term debt 13 41,378 105
Provision for environmental rehabilitation 14 92,849 8,106
Other liabilities 15 65,372 100
Total non-current liabilities 219,452 8,311
Total liabilities 249,371 159,771

EQUITY
Share capital 16 350,198 10,218
Reserves 13,683 7,141
Surplus / (deficit) 43,097 (33,898)
Total equity 406,978 (16,539)
Total liabilities and equity $ 656,349 $ 143,232

Subsequent event [Note 28]

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on March 28, 2022

"John Seaman"
Director

"Ewan Downie"
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME / (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (LOSS)

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars, except for share data)

Year ended
December 31,

Note 2021 2021

Expenses
Exploration, evaluation, and pre-development 19 $ 10,477 $ 3,566
General and administrative 20 10,456 1,126
Restructuring cost 21 4,444 -
Property maintenance 387 314
Share-based payments 16 2,683 1,227
Loss before the following (28,447) (6,233)

Loss on foreign exchange (122) (1,276)
Loss on valuation of warrants 15 (2,515) -
Loss on valuation of derivatives 13 (6,097) -
Gain on Asset Exchange 1(b) 135,531
Environmental rehabilitation accretion 14 (307) (56)
Other (193) (339)
Other income / (expense) 126,297 (1,671)

Related party interest expense 12 1,177 4,586

Income / (loss) before income taxes 96,673 (12,490)

Current tax expense 23 (200) -
Deferred tax expense 23 (19,853) -

Income / (loss) from continuing operations for the year 76,620 (12,490)

Income from discontinued operations for the year 4 11,603 9,716

Income / (loss) and comprehensive income / (loss) for the year $ 88,223 $ (2,774)

Income / (loss) per common share
Basic 17 $ 0.60 $ (5,767)
Diluted 17 0.58 (5,767)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic 17 148,288,884 481
Diluted 17 153,041,598 481

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

Year ended
December 31,

Note 2021 2021
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income / (loss) for the year $ 76,620 $ (12,490)

Items not affecting cash
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 361 225
Non-cash share-based payments 16(f) 2,683 634
Gain on asset exchange 1(b) (135,531) -
Loss on valuation of warrants 15 2,515 -
Loss on valuation of derivatives 13 6,097 -
Related party interest expense 12 1,177 4,586
Loss on foreign exchange 200 1,276
Other 598 382
Deferred taxes 19,853 -

Change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations 18 2,872 (3,205)
Cash used in operating activities of continuing operations (22,555) (8,592)
Cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations 9,548 13,215
Cash provided by / (used in) operating activities $ (13,007) $ 4,623

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment 11 (6,015) (7,592)
Acquisition of Ruby Hill 1(b) (75,084) -
Acquisition of Granite Creek 1(b) (23,310) -
Net cash on asset exchange 1(b) 5,100 -
Purchase of investments 8 (1,954) -
Environmental liability security placed 10 (30,177) -
Reclamation expenditures charged to the provision for environmental rehabilitation 14 - (145)
Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations (131,440) (7,737)
Cash used in investing activities of discontinued operations (6,146) (1,641)
Cash used in investment activities $ (137,586) $ (9,378)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from shares issued in equity financing 1(a) 63,724 -
Proceeds from shares issued in private placements 16(b) 103,117 -
Stock option exercises 1,882 -
Share issue costs (2,602) -
Net proceeds on Orion convertible loan 1(d) 48,590 -
Net proceeds on Sprott convertible loan 1(d) 10,000 -
Proceeds on loan from Equinox 13 20,750 -
Repayment of loan from Equinox 13 (20,750) -
Finance fees paid (644) -
Related party interest paid 12 (1,177) (6,153)
Repayment of lease liability (127) (82)
Other 132 16
Cash provided by / (used in) financing activities of continuing operations 222,895 (6,219)
Cash provided by / (used in) financing activities $ 222,895 $ (6,219)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year 72,302 (10,974)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 15,239 26,213
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash held 117 -
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $ 87,658 $ 15,239

Supplemental cash flow information [Note 18]

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars, except for share data)

Share Capital

Issued and outstanding Note Number of shares Share capital
Equity settled

employee benefits Surplus / (deficit) Total equity
Balance as at December 31, 2019 481 $ 10,218 $ 6,800 $ (31,124) $ (14,106)
Equity settled share-based payments - - 341 - 341
Income for the year - - - (2,774) (2,774)
Balance as at December 31, 2020 481 10,218 7,141 (33,898) (16,539)
Shares issued to Premier to settle intercompany 1(c) 1,133 140,395 - - 140,395
Transfer of Premier USA shares to the Company 1(a) (1,614) (150,613) - - (150,613)
Shares issued to Premier on transfer of Premier USA Shares 1(a) 137,624,461 144,274 4,384 - 148,658
Loss on modification of shareholder loan 1(c) - - - (8,832) (8,832)
Shares issued in equity financing 16(b) 30,914,614 60,841 - - 60,841
Shares issued to Equinox in private placement 16(b) 5,479,536 11,760 - - 11,760
Shares issued on acquisition of Granite Creek 16(b) 13,036,846 27,000 - - 27,000
Shares issued on land acquisition 16(b) 2,430,488 5,000 - - 5,000
Shares issued in private placement 16(b) 8,784,122 18,305 - - 18,305
Shares issued to NGM for Asset Exchange 16(b) 22,757,393 47,422 - - 47,422
Shares issued to Orion in private placement 16(b) 7,500,000 15,629 - - 15,629
Shares issued to Waterton on acquisition of Ruby Hill 16(b) 3,191,358 8,000 - - 8,000
Shares issued to Orion for offtake transfer 16(b) 839,799 1,750 - - 1,750
Shares issued to Equinox for anti-dilution rights 16(b) 4,800,000 10,000 - - 10,000
Orion forced conversion option 13(i) - - - (2,029) (2,029)
Sprott forced conversion option 13(ii) - - - (367) (367)
Exercise of stock options 16(d) 1,345,200 2,819 (938) - 1,881
Share based payments 16(f) - - 3,096 - 3,096
Share issue costs - (2,602) - - (2,602)
Income for the year - - - 88,223 88,223
Balance as at December 31, 2021 238,703,817 $ 350,198 $ 13,683 $ 43,097 $ 406,978

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

i-80 Gold Corp ("i-80 Gold" or the "Company"), is a Nevada focused, growth-oriented gold and silver producer engaged in the exploration,
development and production of gold and silver deposits. The Company recently completed an asset exchange with Nevada Gold Mines
and the acquisition of the Ruby Hill Mine (Refer to Notes 1(b) and 4 within this document) adding to its other principal assets, a 100%
interest in the Granite Creek Project and a 100% interest in the McCoy-Cove Project.

The Company was incorporated on November 10, 2020, in the province of British Columbia, Canada. The Company’s common shares
are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol IAU and its head office is located at Suite 460, 5190 Neil Road,
Reno, Nevada, 89502.

(a) Plan of Arrangement with Equinox Gold

On December 16, 2020, Premier Gold Mines Limited ("Premier") and Equinox Gold Corp. ("Equinox Gold") announced that the
companies entered into a definitive agreement (the “Agreement”) whereby Equinox Gold would acquire all the outstanding shares of
Premier (the “Transaction”). Concurrently, Premier would spin out its U.S. assets and operations which are included in the entities listed
in Note 2(b) to a newly formed Canadian domiciled company i-80 Gold. On closing of the Transaction, existing Equinox Gold and Premier
shareholders would own approximately 84% and 16% of Equinox Gold, and Equinox Gold and existing shareholders of Premier would
own 30% and 70% of the Company, respectively, on an issued share basis.  

On February 23, 2021, Premier's securityholders voted to approve the Transaction. By approving the Transaction, Premier
securityholders also approved the spin out to its shareholders shares of the Company.

On March 18, 2021, the Company completed its private placement offering of 30,914,614 subscription receipts at a subscription price of
C$2.60 for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately C$80.4 million ($60.8 million). Each subscription receipt entitled the subscriber to
one common share of the Company and one-quarter share purchase warrant at an exercise price of C$3.64 with an expiration date of
October 7, 2022 (total share purchase warrants issued of 7,728,654). 

Concurrently with the Company's offering, Equinox Gold advanced to the Company a $20.75 million bridge loan that was used by the
Company for the purposes of making a $20.75 million cash deposit with affiliates of Waterton Global Resource Management, Inc.
(“Waterton”) in partial satisfaction of the purchase price payable to Waterton for the acquisition of the Granite Creek Project. The loan
matured and was repaid within 10 days following the closing of the Transaction in accordance with the agreement.

The Transaction closed on April 7, 2021. Premier shareholders received 0.1967 of an Equinox Gold share for each Premier share held
representing an at market acquisition based on the 10 day volume weighted average closing prices for both Equinox Gold and Premier
shares on the TSX; and 0.4 of a share of the Company for each Premier share held. 

On April 7, 2021, just prior to the completion of the spin out of Premier by way of a Plan of Arrangement (“the Arrangement”), the
Company issued 137,624,461 common shares to Premier for the transfer of its investment in Premier USA to the Company for the
carrying amount of the investment, $150.6 million (1,614 common shares) offset by $4.4 million allocated to the equity settled employee
benefits reserve for replacement options, $0.9 million for the transfer of the South Arturo silver stream, and $0.5 million for replacement
warrants issued pursuant to the Arrangement resulting in $144.9 million in equity.

In accordance with the terms of the Arrangement, the Company and Equinox Gold exchanged existing Premier stock options at the same
ratio as shareholders received on the distribution of the Company to Premier shareholders and as such, the Company issued 0.4 of a
stock option for each Premier option held. This resulted in 5,722,000 replacement options to option holders on record as of April 7, 2021,
at an average option price of C$1.88. The replacement options were valued at $4.4 million and reduced the investment in Premier USA
and were allocated to the equity settled employee benefits reserve.

Also, in accordance with the terms of the Arrangement, a portion of the existing Premier silver stream agreement and replacement
warrants were also allocated to the Company. The resulting valuation of $0.9 million for the transfer of the South Arturo silver stream and
$0.5 million for 800,000 replacement warrants reduced the investment in Premier USA and is included as other long-term liabilities of the
Company.

Following the completion of the spin out on April 7, 2021, the subscription receipts were released from escrow and converted to common
shares of the Company and were listed and posted for trading on the TSX. Trading in the Company's common shares commenced at the
opening of the TSX on April 13, 2021, under the symbol “IAU”.

Note 2(a) describes the accounting for the Transaction.

5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

(b) Acquisition and Purchase Agreements

Osgood Mining Company LLC Acquisition

On April 15, 2021, the Company, together with its subsidiary Premier Gold Mines USA Inc. ("Premier USA") completed the purchase
agreement with affiliates of Waterton to acquire from Waterton all the outstanding membership interests of Osgood Mining Company LLC
(“Osgood”). Osgood is the owner of the Granite Creek Project (formerly the "Getchell Project") in the Getchell gold belt near
Winnemucca, Nevada. Consideration paid to Waterton consisted of (i) $23.0 million in cash, (ii) 13,036,846 common shares of the
Company, (iii) warrants to purchase 12,071,152 common shares of the Company, with an exercise price C$3.64 per common share, for a
period of 36 months following the closing date, and (iv) contingent value rights including a payment to Waterton in the amount of $5.0
million upon the public announcement of a positive production decision related to the Granite Creek Project (underground or open pit),
and an additional $5 million upon production of the first ounce of gold (excluding ordinary testing and bulk sampling programs) following a
60 consecutive day period where gold prices have exceeded $2,000 per ounce. The common shares and warrants issued were subject to
a statutory hold period under applicable Canadian securities legislation that expired on August 15, 2021.

The Osgood acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition as management determined that substantially all the fair value of the
gross assets acquired were concentrated on the Granite Creek Project mineral property. The components of consideration that were paid
and the allocation to the net assets acquired is detailed in the table below:

Components of consideration paid:
Cash $ 23,000
Common shares 27,000
Warrants 6,065
Transaction costs 318

$ 56,383

Allocated value:
Buildings and equipment $ 386
Mineral properties 58,048
Reclamation and closure cost obligations (2,051)

$ 56,383

For contingent consideration and payments, an accounting policy choice exists, and an entity may recognize a liability for the expected
variable payments at the time control of the underlying asset is obtained or they may only recognize such a liability as the related activity
that gives rise to the variability occurs. For the Osgood acquisition, management has not recognized a liability for contingent payments as
the conditions required for these payments have not been met as of the date the assets were acquired.

Christison Purchase Agreement

On December 15, 2020, Premier USA entered into a definitive purchase agreement with the Christison Family Trust and Seven Dot Cattle
Co. LLC to acquire certain fee lands and unpatented mining claims (the “First Property” and the “Second Property”) (collectively the
“Christison Acquisition”) situated in Humboldt County, Nevada, for consideration consisting of $10 million in cash and $5 million in
common shares of the Company. The mining claims are located adjacent to the Granite Creek Project.  During the fourth quarter of 2020
Premier USA paid $7.5 million in cash as consideration for the First Property. On May 10, 2021, Premier USA completed the acquisition
of the Second Property for consideration of $2.5 million in cash and 2,430,488 common shares of the Company.

On completion of the transactions, the properties acquired in the Christison Acquisition and the Osgood Mining Company LLC acquisition
have been combined under the Granite Creek Project.

Acquisition of Ruby Hill

On October 18, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Ruby Hill Mining Company, LLC (“Ruby Hill”). The Ruby Hill property is
host to a producing open pit mine and multiple deposits that contain gold and silver resources, and potential for significant base metal
mineralization.

The Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Ruby Hill for payment of $75 million in cash, 3,191,358 common
shares of the Company valued at $8 million, and future milestone payments of up to $67 million that are subject to an early prepayment
option that could reduce the milestone payments to $47 million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

The four milestone payments and corresponding early prepayment options are as follows: 

 $17 million in cash and/or shares of i-80 Gold payable on the earlier of 60 days following the issuance of a press release by the

Company regarding the completion of a new or updated Mineral Resource estimate for Ruby Hill or 15 months after closing, based

on the market price of i-80 Gold's shares at the time of such payment (the "First Milestone Payment");

 $15 million in cash and/or shares of i-80 payable on the earlier of 60 days following the issuance of a press release by the Company

regarding the completion of a Feasibility Study for Ruby Hill or 24 months after closing, based on the market price of i-80 Gold's

shares at the time of such payment (the "Second Milestone Payment"). An early prepayment option to reduce the payment to $5

million is available if the payment is made less than 15 months after closing and if the payment in shares of the Company does not

exceed up to $7.5 million of the total amount, at the Company's discretion. 

 $15 million in cash and/or shares of i-80 Gold payable on the earlier of 30 months after closing and 90 days following the

announcement by the Company of a construction decision related to a deposit on any portion of Ruby Hill that is not currently being

mined, based on the market price of i-80 Gold's shares at the time of such payment (the "Third Milestone Payment"); and 

 $20 million in cash and/or shares of i-80 Gold payable on the earlier of 36 months after closing and 90 days following the

announcement by the Company of achieving Commercial Production related to a deposit on any portion of Ruby Hill that is not

currently being mined, priced based on the market price of i-80 Gold's shares at the time of such payment (the "Fourth Milestone

Payment"). An early prepayment option to reduce the payment for the third and fourth milestone payments to $15 million is available

if the payments are done prior to 24 months after closing, if the payment in shares of the Company did not exceed up to $10 million

of the total amount, at the Company's discretion, and if shares held by Waterton do not exceed 9.99% of the outstanding shares of

the Company.

The Company determined that the Ruby Hill Acquisition represents a business combination, with i-80 as the acquirer. Transaction costs
incurred in respect of the acquisition totaling $1.2 million were expensed and presented within professional fees in general and
administrative expense in profit or loss.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred consisted of the following:

Cash $ 75,084
Share-based consideration 8,000
Current portion of deferred consideration (i) (Note 15) 15,540
Long-term portion of deferred consideration (i) (Note 15) 26,355

Total consideration $ 124,979

(i) Management's best estimate is that the early prepayment options will be exercised for all milestone payments and discounted them at
a rate of 7.5%: the fair value of the first milestone payment of $17 million, the second milestone prepayment of $10 million, and the third
and fourth milestone prepayment of $20 million.

Net assets (liabilities) acquired:

Accounts receivable and other assets $ 195
Inventory 13,800
Property, plant and equipment 29,981
Mineral property interests 105,877
Accounts payable (1,003)
Accrued liabilities (663)
Provision for environmental rehabilitation (23,208)

Fair value of net assets acquired $ 124,979

The fair value of property, plant and equipment, mineral property interests, and the provision for environmental rehabilitation were
estimated using discounted cash flow models, comparable transactions, and other market-based information. Expected future cash flows
are based on estimates of future gold and silver prices and projected revenues, estimated quantities of mineral reserves and mineral
resources, expected future production costs and capital expenditures based on life-of-mine plans at the acquisition date. The fair value of
inventory was based on forward gold prices and the cost to complete in determining the net realizable value. 

Since acquisition, the Ruby Hill property has not generated any revenue with all direct and indirect operating costs in that intervening
period capitalized into inventory. Accordingly, the operating costs have not impacted the consolidated statement of income / (loss) for the
year ending December 31, 2021. The Company incurred incremental general and administrative costs in relation to Ruby Hill, however, it
is impracticable to allocate these costs to Ruby Hill as there were other acquisitions throughout the year that have also driven increases
to these costs. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

On acquisition of the Ruby Hill property, Waterton did not provide historical financial information on the assets performance and therefore
it is not possible to disclose the impact on the consolidated statement of income / (loss) for the current reporting period as though the
acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of the beginning of the annual reporting period. 

Asset Exchange with Nevada Gold Mines LLC

On October 14, 2021, the Company completed the Asset Exchange Agreement ("Asset Exchange") with Nevada Gold Mines LLC
(“NGM”), a joint-venture between Barrick Gold Corporation and Newmont Corporation. As part of the Asset Exchange, the Company
acquired the Lone Tree and Buffalo Mountain gold deposits and certain processing infrastructure, including an autoclave, from NGM in
consideration for: (i) the Company’s 40% ownership in the South Arturo Property; (ii) assignment of the Company’s option to acquire the
adjacent Rodeo Creek exploration property; (iii) contingent consideration of up to $50 million based on an amount equal to $25 per ounce
of recovered gold produced from the mineral resources at the Lone Tree property; and (iv) arrangement of substitute bonding in respect of
the Lone Tree and Buffalo Mountain reclamation obligations. In addition, at closing of the Asset Exchange, NGM reimbursed the
Company approximately $7.3 million for amounts previously advanced by the Company for the autonomous truck haulage test work
completed at South Arturo and for funds advanced by the Company that were not used for reclamation activities.

The legal transfer was effective June 1, 2021 and as such, the Company obtained the free cash flow from Lone Tree's operations from
June 1, 2021 until October 14, 2021 and in exchange, NGM obtained the free cash flow of South Arturo's operation from June 1, 2021
until October 14, 2021.  NGM also entered into a Subscription Agreement where NGM subscribed to $47.4 million in the Company's
common shares.

The Company determined that the Asset Exchange represents an asset acquisition. Transaction costs incurred with respect to the Asset
Exchange totalled $3.3 million which were included in the components of consideration paid.

The disposal of the Company's 40% interest in South Arturo created no gain or loss of control.

Components of consideration paid:

Book value of South Arturo asset (Note 4) $ 42,819
NGM reimbursement (7,331)
Transaction costs 3,289
Offtake Transfer Payment (Note 16(c)) 1,750

Total consideration $ 40,527

The underlying assets purchased and liabilities assumed were recorded at cost allocated based upon their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. The table below presents the values of the assets purchased and liabilities assumed on the date of acquisition:

Net assets (liabilities) acquired:

Cash $ 1,058
Inventory 3,474
Property, plant and equipment 166,480
Mineral property interests 65,521
Provision for environmental rehabilitation (60,475)

Fair value of net assets acquired - Gross of tax $ 176,058

Taxes payable (1,125)
Deferred tax liability (27,704)

Fair value of net assets acquired - Net of tax $ 147,229

The fair value of property, plant and equipment, mineral property interests, and the provision for environmental rehabilitation were
estimated using discounted cash flow models, comparable transactions, and other market-based information. Expected future cash flows
are based on estimates of future gold and silver prices and projected revenues, estimated quantities of mineral reserves and mineral
resources, expected future production costs and capital expenditures based on life-of-mine plans at the acquisition date. The fair value of
inventory was based on forward gold prices and the cost to complete in determining the net realizable value. 

Income statement impact:

Gain arising on asset exchange - Gross of tax $ 135,531
Income tax expense 28,829

Total gain arising on asset exchange - Net of tax $ 106,702
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

For contingent consideration and payments, an accounting policy choice exists and an entity may recognize a liability for the expected
variable payments at the time control of the underlying asset is obtained or they may only recognize such a liability as the related activity
that gives rise to the variability occurs. For the Asset Exchange, management has not recognized a liability for contingent payments as
the conditions required for these payments have not been met as of the date the assets were acquired.

(c) Related Party Balances

In connection with the closing of the Transaction,  all intercompany balances including the receivable from Premier, the payable due to
Premier, and the intercompany note with Premier were settled with a combination of cash, a distribution of the Company's shares and a
conversion to Premier equity prior to the spin out of the Company to i-80 Gold. The gold sale receivable from Premier was settled in cash
other than $4 million which was distributed back to Premier in the form of a dividend subject to a 5% withholding tax.  The payable due to
Premier and the intercompany note with Premier were converted to 1,133 shares in the Company at a value of $140.4 million.

In April 2021, the Company modified a portion of its intercompany note payable to Premier to change the repayment currency from CAD
to USD. This modification resulted in the extinguishment of the original intercompany note and recognition of a new intercompany note,
with the difference of $8.8 million recorded directly into surplus / (deficit), as this transaction is with Premier in their capacity as a
shareholder and is therefore outside the scope of IFRIC 19 - Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments.

(d) Financing Agreements

Also, in connection with the closing of the Transaction on April 7, 2021, the Company entered into an offtake agreement with OMF Fund II
(O) Ltd. ("Orion") and a silver stream agreement with OMF Fund II SO Ltd. ("Nomad").

Offtake Agreement

Under the terms of the Offtake Agreement, the Company agreed to sell, and Orion agreed to purchase (i) an aggregate of 29,750 ounces
of refined gold for 2021, and (ii) up to an aggregate of 31,500 ounces of refined gold annually (the "Annual Gold Quantity") from the
Company's Eligible Projects until March 1, 2027. The Company's Eligible Projects include the South Arturo Project, the Granite Creek
Project, and the McCoy Cove Project. The final purchase price to be paid by Orion will be, at Orion’s option, a market referenced gold
price in US dollars per ounce during a defined pricing period before and after the date of each sale. In the event that the Company does
not produce the Annual Gold Quantity in any given year, the obligation is limited to those ounces actually produced. 

South Arturo Purchase and Sale Agreement (Silver)

The Company entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (Silver) (the "Stream Agreement") with Nomad, which was connected to
South Arturo, whereby the Company will deliver to Nomad (i) 100% of the refined silver from minerals from the main stream area, and (ii)
50% of the refined silver from the exploration stream Area. Nomad will pay an ongoing cash purchase price equal to 20% of the silver
market price on the day immediately preceding the date of delivery and will credit the remaining 80% against the liability. Following the
delivery of an aggregate amount of refined silver equal to $1.0 million to Nomad under the Stream Agreement, Nomad would continue to
purchase the refined silver at an ongoing cash purchase price equal to 20% of the prevailing silver price. The liability for the Stream
Agreement was included in the net asset value in connection with the asset exchange with NGM, and therefore no longer on the balance
sheet as of December 31, 2021.

Orion and Sprott Financing Package

The Company entered into a finance package with OMF Fund III (F) Ltd. an affiliate of Orion Mine Finance (collectively “Orion“) on
December 13, 2021, and a fund managed by Sprott Asset Management USA, Inc. and a fund managed by CNL Strategic Asset
Management, LLC (“Sprott”) on December 9, 2021 (together the “Finance Package”).

The Finance Package in its aggregate consists of:

 $50 million convertible loan (the “Orion Convertible Loan“) 

 $10 million convertible loan (the “Sprott Convertible Loan” and together with the Orion Convertible Loan, the “Convertible Loans”) 

 $45 million gold prepay purchase and sale agreement entered into with affiliates of Orion (the “Gold Prepay Agreement“), including

an accordion feature potentially to access up to an additional $50 million at i-80’s option

 $30 million silver purchase and sale agreement entered into with affiliates of Orion (the “Silver Purchase Agreement“), including an

accordion feature to potentially access an additional $50 million at i-80’s option and an amended and restated offtake agreement

entered into with affiliates of Orion (the “A&R Offtake Agreement“)

 5,500,000 warrants of the Company issued to Orion (the “Orion Warrants“ and together with the Orion Convertible Loan, Gold

Prepay Agreement, Silver Purchase Agreement and the A&R Offtake Agreement, the “Orion Finance Package”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

The $60 million in Convertible Loans have been fully funded and issued. The obligations under the Gold Prepay Agreement and Silver
Purchase Agreement will be senior secured obligations of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Ruby Hill Mining Company,
LLC and Osgood Mining Company, LLC and secured against the Ruby Hill project in Eureka County, Nevada and the Granite Creek
project in Humboldt County, Nevada.

The Orion and Sprott Convertible Loans bear interest at 8.0% per annum and mature on December 13, 2025 and December 9, 2025,
respectively. Outstanding amounts under the Convertible Loans are convertible into common shares of the Company at any time prior to
maturity at the option of the applicable respective lender (a) in the case of the outstanding principal, C$3.275 per common share, and (b)
in the case of accrued and unpaid interest, subject to TSX approval, at the market price of the common shares on the TSX at time of the
conversion of such interest.

Under the Gold Prepay Agreement, commencing March 31, 2022, i-80 will deliver to Orion 3,000 troy ounces of gold for each of the
quarters ending March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, and thereafter, 2,000 troy ounces of gold per calendar quarter until September 30,
2025 in satisfaction of the $45 million prepayment, for aggregate deliveries of 32,000 troy ounces of gold. Upon a positive construction
decision by i-80 for both (a) the processing facilities at the Lone Tree project, and (b) any two of the following:  the Ruby Hill underground
development (including Ruby Deep and/or Blackjack Deposits), the Granite Creek open pit development, or the McCoy-Cove Project, in
all cases based on a feasibility study, in form and substance satisfactory to Orion, i-80 may request an increase in the $45 million
prepayment by an additional amount not exceeding $50 million in aggregate in accordance with the terms of the Gold Prepay Agreement.
As at December 31, 2021 the prepayment had not been received and so the Statement of Financial Position does not reflect a liability for
this amount.

Under the Silver Purchase Agreement, commencing April 30, 2022, i-80 will deliver to Orion 100% of the silver production from the
Granite Creek and Ruby Hill projects until the delivery of 1.2 million ounces of silver, after which the delivery will be reduced to 50% until
the delivery of an aggregate of 2.5 million ounces of silver, after which the delivery will be reduced to 10% of the silver production solely
from Ruby Hill Project. Orion will pay i-80 an ongoing cash purchase price equal to 20% of the prevailing silver price. Until the delivery of
an aggregate of 1.2 million ounces of silver, i-80 is required to deliver the following minimum amounts of silver in each calendar year: (i)
in 2022, 300,000 ounces, (ii) in 2023, 400,000 ounces, (iii) in 2024, 400,000 ounces, and (iv) in 2025, 100,000 ounces. Upon a
construction decision for the Ruby Hill project, comprised of one or both of the Ruby Deep or Blackjack Deposits, which construction
decision is based on a feasibility study in form and substance satisfactory to Orion, acting reasonably, i-80 will have the right to request
an additional deposit from Orion in the amount of $50 million in aggregate in accordance with the terms of the Silver Purchase
Agreement. As at December 31, 2021 the prepayment had not been received and so the Statement of Financial Position does not reflect
a liability for this amount.

The main amendments reflected in the A&R Offtake Agreement include the increase in the term of the agreement to December 31, 2028,
the inclusion of the Granite Creek and Ruby Hill projects, and the increase of the annual gold quantity to up to an aggregate of 37,500
ounces in respect of the 2022 and 2023 calendar years and up to an aggregate of 40,000 ounces in any calendar year after 2023.

Additionally, in connection with the Gold Prepay Agreement, the Company has issued to Orion the Warrants to purchase up to 5,500,000
common shares of the Company. The Warrants may be exercised at any time at an exercise price of C$3.275 per common share until
December 13, 2024.

(e) COVID-19

The COVID 19 pandemic continues to affect all activity in 2022. Measures taken by various governments to contain the virus have
affected economic activity. The Company has taken several measures to monitor and mitigate the effects of COVID 19, including safety
and health measures for our employees and contractors (such as social distancing and working from home) and securing the supply of
materials that are essential to our operations.

Mining activities at Ruby Hill and Lone Tree and exploration efforts at McCoy Cove and Granite Creek are continuing with no significant
interruptions to date.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

The accounting policies applied in these Consolidated Financial Statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as of March 28,
2022, the date the Board of Directors approved the statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as detailed in the Company’s
accounting policies as described below. The methods used to measure fair values of derivative instruments are discussed in Note 26(d).
The methods used to measure the fair value of the Company’s acquired assets and assumed liabilities in year are discussed in Note 2(t).

These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates as the estimation process is inherently uncertain. Estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant under the circumstances. Revisions to estimates and the resulting effects
on the carrying amounts of the Company's assets and liabilities are accounted for prospectively. The critical judgments and estimates
applied in the preparation of the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements are consistent with those applied and disclosed in Note 2
of the Company's and Premier USA's audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 and as discussed below.

Basis of measurement and impact of the Arrangement

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. Transactions occurring prior to the Arrangement
on April 7, 2021 were derived from the accounting records of Premier Gold Mines USA Inc. (“Premier USA”).  The financial information
prior to April 7, 2021 is intended to be representative of the entities had i-80 Gold been operating them as a stand-alone entity, subject to
i-80 Gold’s control, during this time. The financial information related to this period has been prepared by i-80 Gold’s management in
accordance with IFRS and requires the use of significant judgments made in allocating reported amounts related to Premier USA. In the
opinion of management, these Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustments necessary to present fairly the consolidated
statements of financial position and the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) in accordance
with IFRS. 

Presentation of the consolidated statements of financial position

The transfer of Premier USA’s assets and liabilities from Premier to i-80 Gold was recorded by the Company at the carrying amounts
recorded in Premier USA’s unaudited interim condensed consolidated statement of financial position at the time of the transfer.

The assets, liabilities and equity on the consolidated statements of financial position in the comparative period are directly attributable to
Premier USA, and from April 7, 2021, to i-80 Gold.

Presentation of the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)

All revenue and operating expenses on the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) are directly
attributable to Premier USA and from April 7, 2021, to i-80 Gold.  General and administrative expenses recorded prior to the Arrangement
have been determined based on actual expenses. Share-based compensation recorded by Premier USA prior to April 7, 2021 has been
allocated to Premier USA based on the compensation of Premier USA employees. From April 7, 2021 to December 31, 2021 amounts
recorded for expenses are based on amounts incurred by i-80 Gold and Premier USA.

Presentation of the consolidated statements of changes in equity

For reporting periods prior to the Arrangement, Premier USA’s equity reflects the net assets of the stand-alone entity. At the close of the
Arrangement, the carrying amount of the net investment of $10.2 million was transferred to the share capital of i-80 Gold along with the
additional equity generated through the settlement of the intercompany balances in the amount of $140.4 million discussed further in Note
1(c).

(b) Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Company is exposed to variable returns and has the ability to affect those returns through power to direct
the relevant activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Company. Subsidiaries will be de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

Subsidiary
Percentage of

ownership Property Principal activity
Premier Gold Mines USA Inc. 100% Holding Mineral exploration
Premier Gold Mines Nevada Inc. 100% Inactive Mineral exploration
Au-reka Gold Corporation 100% McCoy-Cove Pre-development
Premier Goldbanks LLC 100% Inactive Mineral exploration
Goldcorp Dee LLC 100% Lone Tree Production
Premier Rye LLC 100% Inactive Mineral exploration
Osgood Mining Company LLC 100% Granite Creek Pre-development
Ruby Hill Mining Company LLC 100% Ruby Hill Production

All transactions and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealized gains and
losses on transactions between the companies. Where unrealized losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries
have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Company. Profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are recognized from the effective date of
acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

(c) Business combinations

For business combinations that are determined to be a combination of businesses not under common control, the consideration
transferred by the Company to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities assumed and the equity interests issued by the Company, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability
arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company recognizes identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of whether they have
been previously recognized in the acquiree's financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
generally measured at their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is
calculated as the excess of the sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognized amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and c) acquisition date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition date fair values of
identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount is recognized
immediately as income in the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

For business combinations that are determined to be a common control transaction, it is necessary for management to use judgement in
applying appropriate accounting treatment that will provide relevant and reliable information. For the Arrangement, management
determined that the transaction was a common control transaction as Premier shareholders retained control of i-80 Gold and Premier
USA, before and after the Arrangement. As a result, management determined that the most relevant and reliable information would be
presented in the consolidated financial statements of i-80 Gold applying the predecessor value or book-value method, which records and
consolidates the existing book values of the acquired assets and liabilities of the combined entities, rather than fair values, and no
goodwill is recorded. In addition, the investment in the transferred subsidiary (Premier USA) transfers to the new parent (i-80 Gold) at the
carrying value of Premier. For comparative presentation purposes, because Premier USA will continue to operate under i-80 Gold,
comparative amounts will be retained and continue to be presented in the consolidated financial statements. 

(d) Change in functional and presentation currency

Management has determined that the functional and presentation currency of the Company has changed since December 31, 2020 and
is now United States dollars (“USD”) rather than Canadian dollars (“CAD”). At December 31, 2020, the Company had no operations and
was just a shell company and so as the Company started to operate management considered primary and secondary indicators in
determining functional currency including the currency that influences sales prices, labor, purchases and other costs. Other indicators
including the currency in which funds from financing activities are generated and the currency in which receipts from operations are
usually retained. Although current and future cash inflows and outflows from both sales and expenditures may be in both USD and CAD,
the Company expects USD to be the primary currency by which its business is transacted.

Reference to $ or USD is to US dollars, reference to C$ or CAD is to Canadian dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

(e) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are measured on initial recognition at fair value, plus, in the case of financial instruments other than those classified
as fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"), directly attributable transaction costs. Financial instruments are recognized when the
Company becomes a party to the contracts that give rise to them and are classified at amortized cost, fair value through profit or loss or
fair value through other comprehensive income, as appropriate. The Company considers whether a contract contains an embedded
derivative when the entity first becomes a party to it. The embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract if the host contract
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss and when the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the
host contract. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets not designated upon initial recognition as amortized
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). A financial asset is classified in this category principally for the purpose
of selling in the short term, or if so designated by management. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred. On initial recognition, a
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or FVOCI may be irrevocably designated as
FVPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. Financial assets measured at
FVPL are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, and is not designated as FVPL. Financial assets classified as amortized cost are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts/payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or (when appropriate) a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVPL if it is classified as
held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value
and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in net earnings when the liabilities are
derecognized as well as through the amortization process. Borrowing liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date. 

Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are measured at fair value on initial recognition and at each subsequent
reporting period. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives are recorded in profit or loss.

Fair values

The fair value of quoted investments is determined by reference to market prices at the close of business on the statement of financial
position date. Where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. These include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same; discounted cash
flow analysis; and, pricing models. 

13



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

Financial instruments that are measured at fair value subsequent to initial recognition are grouped into a hierarchy based on the degree
to which the fair value is observable as follows:

Level 1 fair value measurements are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

Impairment of financial assets

A loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognized in OCI for financial assets measured at amortized cost. At each balance sheet
date, on a forward-looking basis, the Company assesses the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets carried at
amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
The impairment model does not apply to investments in equity instruments. 

The expected credit losses are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit
losses (expected credit losses that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date) or full lifetime expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the life of
the financial instrument). A loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk of
that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset is derecognized when either the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Company has
transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party. If neither the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired nor the Company has transferred its
rights to receive cash flows from the asset, the Company will assess whether it has relinquished control of the asset or not. If the
Company does not control the asset then derecognition is appropriate. 

A financial liability is derecognized when the associated obligation is discharged or canceled or expires. When an existing financial liability
is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in net earnings.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of cash on hand and demand deposits.

(g) Inventory

Material extracted from our mines is classified as either ore or waste. Ore represents material that, at the time of extraction, is expected
to be processed into a saleable form and sold at a profit.  Raw materials are comprised of both ore in stockpiles and ore on leach pads as
processing is required to extract benefit from the ore. Ore is accumulated in stockpiles that are subsequently processed into gold and
silver in a saleable form. The recovery of gold from certain oxide ores is achieved through the heap leaching process. Work-in-process
represents gold and silver in the processing circuit, including ore and leach pads, that has not completed the production process, and is
not yet in a saleable form. Finished goods inventory represents gold and silver in saleable form. Mine operating supplies represent
commodity consumables and other raw materials used in the production process, as well as spare parts and other maintenance supplies
that are not classified as capital items.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes all
costs incurred, based on a normal production capacity, in bringing each product to its present location and condition.  Cost of inventories
comprises direct labour, materials and contractor expenses, including non-capitalized stripping costs; depreciation on property, plant and
equipment including capitalized stripping costs; and an allocation of general and administrative costs.  As ore is removed for processing,
costs are removed based on the average cost per ounce in the stockpile.
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(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

Provisions to reduce inventory to net realizable value are recorded to reflect changes in economic factors that impact inventory value and
to reflect present intentions for the use of slow moving and obsolete supplies inventory.  Net realizable value is determined with reference
to relevant market prices less applicable variable selling expenses. Provisions recorded also reflect an estimate of the remaining costs of
completion to bring the inventory into its saleable form.  Provisions are also recorded to reduce mine operating supplies to net realizable
value, which is generally calculated by reference to its salvage or scrap value, when it is determined that the supplies are obsolete.
Provisions are reversed to reflect subsequent recoveries in net realizable value where the inventory is still on hand. 

(h) Property, plant and equipment

General

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation, depletion and impairment charges.

Major overhaul expenditures and the cost of replacement of a component of plant and mobile equipment are capitalized and depreciated
over the average expected life between major overhauls. All other replacement spares and other costs relating to maintenance of mobile
equipment are charged to the cost of production.

Directly attributable costs incurred for major capital projects and site preparation are capitalized until the asset is in a location and
condition necessary for operation as intended by management. These costs include dismantling and site restoration costs to the extent
these are recognized as a provision. Management annually reviews the estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods
of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and also when events or changes in circumstances indicate that such a review should
be made. Changes to estimated useful lives, residual values or depreciation methods resulting from such review are accounted for
prospectively.

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognized upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between any proceeds received
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statements of income / (loss) and comprehensive income / (loss) in the period the
asset is de-recognized.

Exploration, evaluation and pre-development expenditures

The exploration, evaluation and pre-development expenditure policy is to charge exploration and evaluation expenditures within an area of
interest as expense until management concludes that the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource are
demonstrable and that future economic benefits are probable. In making this determination, the extent of exploration, as well as the
degree of confidence in the mineral resource is considered. Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically
feasible and has been subject to an impairment analysis, further expenditures are capitalized and classified as development properties.

Exploration, evaluation and pre-development expenditures consist of:

- gathering exploration data through topographical and geotechnical studies;
- exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;
- determining the volume and grade of the resource;
- test work on geology, metallurgy, mining, geotechnical and environmental; and
- conducting engineering, marketing and financial studies.

Exploration and evaluation assets acquired are initially recognized at fair value as exploration rights within tangible assets.

Development properties (underground and open pit)

A property, either open pit or underground, is classified as a development property when a mine plan has been prepared and technical
feasibility has been established, a permit has been obtained and a decision is made to commercially develop the property and
mineralization is classified as proven and probable. Development expenditure is accumulated separately for each area of interest for
which economically recoverable mineral reserves have been identified.

All expenditures incurred prior to the commencement of commercial levels of production from each development property are capitalized.
In addition, capitalized costs are assessed for impairment when there is an indicator of impairment.

Development properties are not amortized until they are reclassified as mine property assets following the achievement of commercial
levels of production.
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Mine properties

After a mine property has been brought into commercial production, costs of any additional mining, in-pit drilling and related work on that
property are expensed as incurred. Mine development costs incurred to expand operating capacity, develop new ore bodies or develop
mine areas in advance of current production, including the stripping of waste material, are deferred and then amortized on a unit-of-
production basis.

Deferred stripping costs

Stripping costs incurred in the production phase of a mining operation are accounted for as variable production costs and are included in
the costs of inventory produced. Stripping activity that improves access to ore in a future period is accounted for as an addition to or
enhancement of an existing asset. The Company recognizes stripping activity assets when it is probable that the future economic benefit
associated with the stripping activity will flow to the Company; the component of the ore body for which access has been improved can be
identified; and the costs relating to the stripping activity associated with that component can be measured reliably.

Stripping activity assets are amortized on a unit of production basis in subsequent periods over the proven and probable reserves to
which they relate.

Depreciation and depletion

The carrying amounts of mine properties, plant and equipment are depreciated or depleted to their estimated residual value over the
estimated economic life of the specific assets to which they relate, using the depreciation methods or depletion rates as indicated below.
Estimates of residual values or useful lives and depreciation methods are reassessed annually and any change in estimate is taken into
account in the determination of the remaining depreciation or depletion rate. Depreciation or depletion commences on the date the asset
is available for its use as intended by management.

Depreciation or depletion is computed using the following rates:

Item Methods Rates
Mine properties Units of production Estimated proven and probable mineral reserves

Equipment, leasehold improvements Straight line Lesser of lease term and estimated useful life

Buildings Straight line 20 years

Furniture, office equipment and software Straight line 2 – 5 years

Plant and equipment Straight line, units of production 4 – 10 years, estimated proven and probable
mineral reserves 

Mining equipment Straight line 1 – 10 years based on life of mine

Deferred stripping costs Units of production Estimated proven and probable mineral reserves
accessible due to stripping activity 

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company or its subsidiaries have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized as a finance cost. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements, if not estimatable and probable, and are
disclosed in notes to the financial information unless their occurrence is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial
statements, but are disclosed in the notes if their recovery is deemed probable.
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Environmental rehabilitation

Provisions for environmental rehabilitation are made in respect of the estimated future costs of closure and restoration and for
environmental rehabilitation costs (which include the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and
remediation of disturbed areas) in the accounting period when the related environmental disturbance occurs. The provision is discounted
using a pretax rate, and the unwinding of the discount is included in finance costs. At the time of establishing the provision, a
corresponding asset is capitalized and is depreciated over future production from the mining property to which it relates. The provision is
reviewed each reporting period for changes in cost estimates, discount rates and operating lives. Changes to estimated future costs are
recognized in the statement of financial position by adjusting the rehabilitation asset and liability. If, for mature mines, the revised mine
assets net of rehabilitation provisions exceeds the carrying value, that portion of the increase is charged directly to expenses. For closed
sites, changes to estimated costs are recognized immediately in profit and loss.

(j) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether the: 

contract involves the use of an identified asset:

 this may be specified explicitly or implicitly,

 should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset, and

 if the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified.

 Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the period of use, and

 Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it has the decision-making rights that are

most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what

purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset if either the:

 Company has the right to operate the asset, or

 Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of land and buildings in which it is a
lessee, the Company has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a
single lease component.

The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end
of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on
the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset will be periodically reduced by impairment losses,
if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability when applicable.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company's incremental borrowing
rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments,

 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date,

 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, and

 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional

renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease

unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.
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The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in “Property, plant and equipment" and
lease liabilities in “Other liabilities".

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of items that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets including non-specialized IT equipment. The Company recognizes the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(k) Share capital and warrants

Share capital represents the fair value of consideration received. Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net
assets of the Company. Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the
definition of a financial liability or financial asset. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are also
shown in equity as a deduction.

The Company periodically issues units to investors consisting of common shares and warrants in non-brokered private placements or as
additional consideration in a brokered financing or purchase transaction. Each whole warrant issued entitles the holder to acquire a
common share of the Company, at a fixed Canadian dollar price over a specified term. These warrants are not transferable from the
original investor to a new investor and are considered derivatives because their exercise price is in CAD whereas the Company’s
functional currency is in USD. Accordingly, the Company recognizes the warrants as a liability at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in profit or loss except the Premier warrants that were replaced on the spin-out recorded as a reduction of equity. When
investor or other warrants are exercised, the liability is revalued prior to derecognition with the change in fair value recognized in profit or
loss, proceeds received are added to share capital and the liability is derecognized.

Holders of the Company's common shares will be entitled to receive dividends out of any funds legally available when, as and if declared
by the Board. Each holder of the Company's common shares is entitled to one vote per share on all matters on which shareholders are
generally entitled to vote. The Company's articles do not provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors.

(l) Share-based compensation

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair values or where fair
value of the goods and services received is indeterminable estimated using an option pricing model. Where employees are rewarded
using share-based payments, the fair values of employees' services are determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. This fair value is determined at the grant date. In the comparative period all share-based payments have been
granted by Premier and allocated to the Company.

All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognized as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding credit to reserves.

Share Option Plan

Stock options are equity-settled share-based compensation awards. The fair value of stock options at the grant date is estimated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period based on the number of units
estimated to vest. Vesting periods may range from immediate to five years. This expense is recognized as share-based compensation
expense with a corresponding increase in equity reserves.

Restricted Share Unit Plan

Restricted share units ("RSU") are granted to eligible members of the Board of Directors, eligible employees and eligible contractors. The
RSUs are settled in cash or equity at the option of the Company. The RSUs vest subject to an RSU award letter but no later than
December 31, of the third calendar year following the service year determined based on date of grant. The RSUs granted are accounted
for under the equity method where the RSU grant letter specifies settlement in shares.
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Deferred Share Unit Plan

Deferred share units ("DSU") are granted to eligible members of the Board of Directors, eligible employees and eligible contractors. The
DSUs are settled in cash or equity at the option of the Company. The DSUs vest subject to a DSU award letter but no later than
December 31, of the third calendar year following the service year determined based on date of grant. The DSUs granted are accounted
for under the liability method where the DSU grant letter specifies settlement in cash, and the equity method where the DSU grant letter
specifies settlement in shares.

(m) Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented separately and measured at the lower of their carrying amounts immediately
prior to their classification as held for sale and their fair value less costs to sell. Once classified as held for sale, the assets are not
subject to depreciation or amortization.

Any profit or loss arising from the sale of a discontinued operation or its remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell is presented as
part of a single line item, profit or loss from discontinued operations.

In the absence of direct guidance from IFRS 5 or IFRS 3 regarding the treatment of transaction costs in the case of a disposal, the
Company will defer these costs and recognize them against the gain or loss incurred upon closing of the transaction. The transaction
costs will be classified in the asset held for sale line item until the transaction is closed and the related assets and liabilities are
derecognized.

(n) Impairment of non-financial assets

At each financial position reporting date the carrying amounts of the Company's non-financial assets are reviewed to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm's length transaction between
knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in the profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-generating units to which the exploration
activity relates. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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(o) Revenue 

The Company follows as 5-step process in determining whether to recognize revenue from the sale of precious metals, gold and silver:

- Identifying the contract with a customer;
- Identifying the performance obligations;
- Determine the transaction price;
- Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and
- Recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

The Company earns revenue from contracts with customers under the gold offtake and silver stream arrangements with Orion and
Nomad. Revenue from contracts with customers is generally recognized on the settlement date, which is the date the customer obtains
control of the promised asset and the Company satisfies its performance obligation. The Company considers the terms of the contract in
determining the transaction price. The transaction price is based upon the amount the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for
the transferring of the promised goods. The transaction price is either fixed on the settlement date or at spot prices based upon the terms
of the contract. The Company typically receives payment within one to three days of the settlement date.

In the comparative period and prior to the closing of the Transaction, the Company earned revenue from the sale of precious metals to
Premier, a related party. All sales were at market prices and a trading margin of 1.8% is applicable in situations where Premier was
required to perform significant sales and trading activities for the refined metals. Revenue from related party sales was recognized at the
fair value of the consideration received. 

(p) Income taxes

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior
reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit or other current tax activities, which differs
from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax expense is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and co-ownership is not
provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Company and it is expected that reversal will not occur in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of
realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax liabilities are always
provided for in full.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future taxable income. To
the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a future tax asset will be recovered, it is not recognized in the financial
statements.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Company has a right and intention to offset current tax assets and liabilities
from the same taxation authority.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of taxable income or expense in profit or loss, except where
they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also
recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

(q) Income / (loss) per share

The Company presents basic income / (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing the income / (loss) attributable
to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
income per share is determined using the treasury stock method and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
the effects of all dilutive stock options.
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(r) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity (i) that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity), (ii) whose operating
results are regularly reviewed by the entity's management, and (iii) for which discrete financial information is available. 

(s) Interest

Interest income and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.

(t) Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of commitments and contingent liabilities at
the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The
determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgement based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical
experience, current and expected economic conditions. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and earnings within the next financial year include:

Osgood Mining Company LLC Acquisition

With regard to the acquisition of Osgood, management followed the guidance within IFRS 3 – Business Combinations and determined
that the transaction should be accounted for as an asset acquisition. In such cases, the acquirer identifies and recognizes the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The cost of the group is allocated to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on
the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction or event will not give rise to recording goodwill.

The Osgood transaction was recorded based on the total consideration paid for the assets. Total consideration paid in excess of the
acquired assets’ book values represented the fair value of the net assets acquired and was attributable to the acquired mineral interests.

For contingent consideration and payments, an accounting policy choice exists, and an entity may recognize a liability for the expected
variable payments at the time control of the underlying asset is obtained or they may only recognize such a liability as the related activity
that gives rise to the variability occurs. For the Osgood acquisition, management has not recognized any liability for contingent payments
as the performance conditions required for these payments had not been met as of the date the assets were acquired.

Acquisition of Ruby Hill

The acquisition of Ruby Hill was assessed by management under the guidance of IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, management
determined that they acquired a business and therefore accounted for the acquisition as a business combination under this standard. The
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in this business combination, including deferred consideration, was estimated based
on information available at the date of acquisition. Various valuation techniques were applied for measuring fair value including market
comparables and discounted cash flows which rely on assumptions such as forward commodity prices, quantity of mineral resources,
mining and processing costs and discount rates. Changes in these variables could significantly impact the carrying value of the net
assets.

Asset Exchange with Nevada Gold Mines LLC

The Asset Exchange with Nevada Gold Mines LLC was assessed by management under the guidance of IFRS 3 – Business
Combinations. Management determined the assets acquired in this transaction did not meet the definition of a business and therefore
accounted for the acquisition as an asset acquisition. As the consideration for this transaction was largely the South Arturo operations,
the fair value of consideration given could not be measured as reliably as the fair value of the assets acquired and so management took
the approach of valuing the assets acquired at fair value instead of the consideration paid, The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in this asset acquisition, was estimated based on information available at the date of acquisition. Various valuation techniques
were applied for measuring fair value including market comparables and discounted cash flows which rely on assumptions such as
forward commodity prices, quantity of mineral resources, mining and processing costs and discount rates. Changes in these variables
could significantly impact the carrying value of the net assets. A gain was recognized on this transaction, which reflected the difference
between the carrying value of the non-cash consideration and its fair value. 
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Provisions for environmental rehabilitation 

Management assesses the provisions for environmental rehabilitation on acquisition, on an annual basis or when new information
becomes available. This assessment includes the estimation of the future rehabilitation costs required based on the existing laws and
regulations in each jurisdiction the Company operates in, the timing of these expenditures, and the impact of changes in the discount
rate. The actual future expenditures may differ from the amount currently provided if the estimates made are significantly different than
actual results or if there are significant changes in environmental and / or regulatory requirements in the future.

Valuation of financial instruments

Concurrent with the Transaction described in Note 1 of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company issued warrants and
completed certain financing agreements with Orion and Nomad that included an Offtake Agreement and a Stream Agreement.

Warrants

The Company issued warrants in connection with the Transaction as further described in Note 1 and Note 14(i) and the Finance Package
as described in Note 1(d). The warrants are considered derivatives because their exercise price is in C$ whereas the Company’s
functional currency is in USD.  Accordingly, the Company recognizes the warrants as liabilities at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in profit or loss. In determining fair value, management judgement is required in respect to input variables of the financial
model used for estimation purposes. These variables include such inputs as the Company's stock price, stock price variability, trading
volumes and risk-free rates of return. The fair value of the warrants recognized on inception were calculated using Premier’s share price
volatility and at December 31, 2021, using i-80 Gold's share price volatility.

Financing

The financing instruments described in Note 1(d) were valued by simulating the relevant prices of the underlying assets; gold, silver and
the Common Shares, from December 9 or 13, 2021, to their respective maturity dates of each financial instrument, using
LongstaffSchwartx MonteCarlo simulation, assuming they follow correlated Geometric Brownian Motion and modeling the payoffs of each
financial instrument in the Financing Package. The derivatives (including embedded) were fair valued with the residual balance being
allocated to the host contracts. The derivatives (including embedded) will continue to be recognized at FVPL whilst the host contracts are
at amortized cost. No value was attributed to the unfunded instruments in the Finance Package on inception or at December 31, 2021.

The Company has determined that the South Arturo Stream Agreement represented a financial liability and evaluated the liability under
IFRS 9 and the valuation of financial instruments. In determining the fair value of the Stream Agreement management judgement was
required in respect to input variables of the financial model used for estimation purposes. These variables include such inputs as the
Company's production profile, credit spread, and metal prices. Using the inputs above the Company used a discounted cash flow analysis
to determine the present value of the financial liability.

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Significant judgement was required in the application of IFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (“IFRS
5”) regarding the Company’s 40% interest in the South Arturo asset classification as assets held for sale and classification as a
discontinued operation.

In October, 2021, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement with Nevada Gold Mines (“NGM”) whereby the
Company acquired the Lone Tree and Buffalo Mountain gold deposits in exchange for (among other consideration) the Company’s 40%
interest in the South Arturo property. Management determined that the South Arturo asset should be classified as a discontinued
operation in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet Adopted 

IAS 1 - Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify that liabilities are classified as
either current or non-current, depending on the existence of the substantive right at the end of the reporting period for an entity to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. The amendments are effective January 1, 2023 with early
adoption permitted. The amendments are required to be adopted retrospectively. The Company does not anticipate any significant impact
from these amendments on the consolidated financial statements as a result of initial application. 
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Amendments to IAS 12 and IFRS 1 – Deferred taxes related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction 

In May 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12 - Income Taxes, which requires companies to recognize deferred tax on particular
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and are to be applied retrospectively. The Company does not
expect a material impact from this amendment on the consolidated financial statements as a result of the initial application.

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use, which made amendments to IAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment. Effective January 1, 2022, the amendments prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of PP&E
amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will
recognize such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. The Company does not expect a material impact from this amendment
on the consolidated financial statements as a result of the initial application.

Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract, which made amendments to IAS 37 Provisions
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Effective January 1, 2022, the amendments specify which costs an entity includes in
determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether the contract is onerous. The Company does not expect a
material impact from this amendment on the consolidated financial statements as a result of the initial application.

4. DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In October 2021, the Company and NGM completed an exchange agreement whereby the Company acquired the Lone Tree and Buffalo
Mountain properties in exchange for the Company’s 40% interest in the South Arturo property. As a result, assets and liabilities allocable
to the South Arturo assets were classified as a disposal group held for sale. Revenue and expenses, gains and losses relating to the
discontinuation of South Arturo have been eliminated from profit or loss from the Company’s continuing operations and are shown as a
single line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Operating profit of the South Arturo asset classified as held for sale is summarized as follows:

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Revenue $ 31,991 $ 37,133
Cost of sales (17,207) (21,709)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization (1,691) (4,124)
Mine operating income / (loss) from discontinued operations 13,093 11,300

Expenses
Exploration, evaluation, and pre-development 1,034 625
General and administrative 175 52
Income / (loss) from discontinued operations before the following 11,884 10,623

Environmental rehabilitation accretion (44) (46)
Other 16 92
Other income / (expense) (28) 46

Income / (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes 11,856 10,669

Current tax expense (253) (953)

Income / (loss) from discontinued operations for the period $ 11,603 $ 9,716
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The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in this disposal group are summarized as follows:

October 14,
2021

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,361
Inventory 3,184
Total current assets 6,545
Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 5,483
Long-term inventory 3,125
Property, plant and equipment 35,710
Total non-current assets 44,318
Total assets $ 50,863

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3,539
Accrued liabilities 26
Taxes payable 111
Current provision for environmental rehabilitation 4
Total current liabilities 3,680
Non-current liabilities
Deferred taxes 897
Provision for environmental rehabilitation 3,467
Total non-current liabilities 4,364
Total liabilities $ 8,044

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks including money market savings accounts and short-term deposits that
have a one year maturity but that are cashable within 30 days or less into a known amount of cash.

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Cash and cash equivalents $ 87,658 $ 15,239
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 87,658 $ 15,239

6. RECEIVABLE FROM RELATED PARTIES

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Premier Gold Mines Limited (i) $ - $ 10,336
Minera Mercedes Minerales S. de R.L. de C.V. (ii) - 11

$ - $ 10,347

(i) In the first quarter of 2021 and in the comparative period the Company sold refined metals to Premier under a transfer pricing
agreement. All sales were at market prices. A trading margin of 1.8% was applicable in situations where Premier was required to
perform significant sales and trading activities for the refined metals.

The Company recognized revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 of $32.0 million ($37.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020) from the sale of gold and silver under the transfer pricing agreement with Premier. The receivable in the
comparative period was settled in during the first quarter of 2021 and in connection with the closing of the Transaction as further
discussed in Note 1 of these Consolidated Financial Statements. As discussed in Note 4 of these Consolidated Financial Statements,
revenues less costs to sell are included as part of a single line item, profit or loss from discontinued operations.
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(ii) In the first quarter of 2021 and in the comparative period the Company provided personnel to Minera Mercedes Minerales S. de R.L.
de C.V. ("Mercedes"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Premier. The receivable in the comparative period was comprised of salaries and
other recoverable expenses incurred in providing professional services to the Mercedes mine.

7. INVENTORY

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Finished goods $ - $ 3,102
Work-in-process 26,000 -
Current ore stockpiles - 1,315
Total current inventory 26,000 4,417
Long-term ore stockpiles - 3,125

Total inventory $ 26,000 $ 7,542

Inventory as of December 31, 2020 is included in the disposal group classified as held for sale.

8.  OTHER ASSETS

On May 11, 2021, the Company completed a subscription agreement to purchase common shares (the “Purchased Securities”) from
2766604 Ontario Ltd. (the “Issuer”), whereby the Company agreed to purchase 800,000 common shares at a price of C$1.00 per
common share for aggregate of C$0.80 million. On December 3, 2021, the Company completed an additional subscription agreement to
purchase 800,000 common shares at a price of C$2.10 per common share for aggregate of C$1.68 million, bringing the Company's total
investment to C$2.48 million ($1.95 million). The Company records its investment in the Issuer at fair value. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company recognized an increase in the fair value of C$.88 million ($0.70 million) which has been included in
other income. At December 31, 2021, the fair value of the Company's investment in the Issuer was C$3.36 million ($2.65 million).

The issuer is not a reporting issuer for the purposes of National Instrument 45-102 – Resale of Securities and as such the common
shares issuable pursuant to this offering will be subject to an indefinite hold until the Issuer becomes a reporting issuer for the purposes
of National Instrument 45-102. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had an approximate 10% holding in 2766604 Ontario Ltd.

9.  LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE

The receivable is Alternative Minimum Tax ("AMT") recoverable due to the enactment of U.S. Tax Reform legislation on December 22,
2017. The Company has a total of $1.4 million in AMT credits as a result of the Corona Virus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
("CARES") Act which was enacted March 27, 2020.

10. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

December 31, December 31,
Property 2021 2021
McCoy-Cove, Nevada (i) $ 600 $ 600
South Arturo, Nevada - 4,894
Lone Tree, Nevada (ii) 25,593 -
Ruby Hill, Nevada (iii) 4,584 -

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 30,777 $ 5,494

(i) The Company's wholly owned subsidiary, Au-reka Gold Corporation, has $0.6 million in restricted cash related to reclamation
obligations associated with the McCoy-Cove Project in Nevada held in trust with Lexon Surety Group as security for the surety bonds.

(ii) As of December 31, 2021, the Company has $25.6 million in restricted cash relating to the reclamation of the Company's Lone Tree
property.

(ii) As of December 31, 2021, the Company has $4.6 million in restricted cash relating to the reclamation of the Company's Ruby Hill
property.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

Mineral
properties
subject to

depletion (i)

Mineral
properties

not subject to
depletion (ii)

Buildings,
plant and

equipment Total
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 95,096 $ 75,744 $ 18,021 $ 188,861
Additions 1,174 7,814 43 9,031
Disposals - (309) (162) (471)
Change in estimate of provision for environmental rehabilitation 221 750 - 971
Transfers 46 (634) 588 -
Balance, December 31, 2020 96,537 83,365 18,490 198,392
Additions 172,872 69,049 200,586 442,507
Disposals - - (3) (3)
Change in estimate of provision for environmental rehabilitation (80) 2,160 - 2,080
Transfers (355) 2,503 (2,148) -
Adjustments - - (26) (26)
Classified as held for sale (97,699) (26,587) (10,658) (134,944)
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 171,275 $ 130,490 $ 206,241 $ 508,006

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 90,914 $ - $ 3,222 $ 94,136
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 2,384 - 1,845 4,229
Disposals - - (129) (129)
Balance, December 31, 2020 93,298 - 4,938 98,236
Depletion, depreciation and amortization (iii) 2,877 - 3,481 6,358
Disposals - - (3) (3)
Classified as held for sale (94,015) - (5,219) (99,234)
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 2,160 $ - $ 3,197 $ 5,357

Carrying amounts
Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 3,239 $ 83,365 $ 13,552 $ 100,155
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 169,115 $ 130,490 $ 203,044 $ 502,649

(i) Mineral properties subject to depletion relates to the Company's Lone Tree and Ruby Hill properties.

Property
December 31,

2020 Additions

Change in
estimate of

environmental
provision Transfers Depletion

Classified as
held for sale

December 31,
2021

South Arturo, Nevada $ 3,239 $ 1,517 $ - $ (355) $ (717) $ (3,684) $ -
Lone Tree, Nevada - 65,521 - - (2,160) - 63,361
Ruby Hill, Nevada - 105,834 (80) - - - 105,754

$ 3,239 $ 172,872 $ (80) $ (355) $ (2,877) $ (3,684) $ 169,115

Property
January 1,

2021 Additions

Change in
estimate of

environmental
provision Transfers Depletion

Classified as
held for sale

December 31,
2021

South Arturo, Nevada $ 4,182 $ 1,174 $ 221 $ 46 $ (2,384) $ - $ 3,239
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(ii) Mineral properties not subject to depletion:

Project
December 31,

2020 Additions

Change in
estimate of

environmental
provision Transfers

Write-
downs and
disposals

Classified
as held for

sale
December 31,

2021
McCoy-Cove, Nevada $ 52,213 $ - $ 1,842 $ 50 $ - $ - $ 54,105
Rodeo Creek, Nevada 250 - - (250) - - -
South Arturo, Nevada 23,402 482 - 2,703 - (26,587) -
Granite Creek, Nevada 7,500 68,567 318 - - - 76,385

$ 83,365 $ 69,049 $ 2,160 $ 2,503 $ - $ (26,587) $ 130,490

Project
January 1,

2021 Additions

Change in
estimate of

environmental
provision Transfers

Write-downs
and

disposals

Classified
as held for

sale
December 31,

2021
McCoy-Cove, Nevada $ 51,647 $ 17 $ 750 $ - $ (201) $ - $ 52,213
Rye, Nevada 108 - - - (108) - -
Rodeo Creek, Nevada 150 100 - - - - 250
South Arturo, Nevada 23,839 197 - (634) - - 23,402
Granite Creek, Nevada - 7,500 - - - - 7,500

$ 75,744 $ 7,814 $ 750 $ (634) $ (309) $ - $ 83,365

(iii) Depreciation, depletion and amortization on property, plant and equipment during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
include amounts allocated to:

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Recorded in exploration, evaluation and pre-development $ 198 $ 108
Recorded in general and administrative 163 117
Depreciation, depletion and amortization in discontinued operations 1,691 4,124

2,052 4,349
Inventory movement 4,306 (120)
Total depletion, depreciation and amortization $ 6,358 $ 4,229

(iv) The Company’s leased assets include buildings and vehicles.  Right-of-use assets include:

Buildings Vehicles Total
Balance as at January 1, 2020 $ 170 $ 8 $ 178
Depreciation 79 5 84
Balance, December 31, 2020 91 3 94
Additions 635 - 635
Terminations 26 - 26
Depreciation 118 3 121
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 582 $ - $ 582

(a) Impairment

The Company regularly reviews the carrying amount of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. Mineral property interests are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. In the absence of other factors, a mineral property that has not been actively
explored within the past three years and for which no future exploration plans exist will be considered to be impaired. There were no
impairments recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021, and 2021. 
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(b) Acquisitions and option agreements

Granite Creek Project

As disclosed in Note 1(b) the Granite Creek Project was acquired through the acquisition agreement with Osgood and Christison. The
purchase price paid in 2021 was a combination of non-cash shares and warrants of $38.0 million and cash of $23.2 million. In 2020, $2.3
million in cash was paid on deposit to Waterton on the purchased of Osgood; and $7.5 million in cash was paid for the Christison Project,
which was transferred into the Granite Creek Project in 2021.

Tabor Exploration and Option Agreement

On August 24, 2020, the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary AuReka Gold Corporation entered into an option agreement with
Renaissance Exploration, Inc. to acquire a 100% interest in the Tabor Project located in Esmeralda County, Nevada, subject to initial
earn-in option payments of $5.2 million and a firm commitment to spend $0.3 million towards exploration activities by the one-year
anniversary date that the Company acquires an exploration permit on the property.

(c) Summary of mineral property Net Smelter Return ("NSR") royalties (at December 31, 2021)

Active properties NSR (i)
McCoy-Cove, Nevada 1.5% NSR Maverix Metals Inc.

2% NSR Maverix Metals Inc.
Tabor, Nevada 2% NSR Nevada Select Royalty (Mustang Project)

3% NSR Renaissance 
South Arturo, Nevada 4-9% Annual minimum royalty Franco-Nevada Corporation
Granite Creek 2-7.5% NSR Murphy

1-4% NSR Royal Gold / Duncan
3-5% NSR Royal Gold
2% NSR Franco-Nevada
2% NSR Franco-Nevada / Pinson S&G
10% Net Profits Nevada Gold Mines

Lone Tree 3% NSR
2.5% NSR Placer Dome

Ruby Hill 3% NSR Royal Gold
4% NSR Asarco Gold

Inactive properties NSR
Rodeo Creek, Nevada 2% NSR Nevada Select Royalty Inc

(i) These royalties are tied to specific mining claims and may not apply to the entire property.

12. LOAN PAYABLE TO PREMIER GOLD MINES LIMITED

An unsecured intercompany note in the amount of $70.5 million was issued pursuant to an asset transfer agreement dated May 30, 2016
between Premier USA and Premier in respect of the purchase and sale of all of the membership interests in Goldcorp Dee L.L.C. Interest
accrued on the principal sum outstanding calculated at a rate of 6.25% per annum until the maturity date of June 29, 2021.

The intercompany note was settled in connection with the closing of the Transaction as further discussed in Note 1 of these Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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13. LONG-TERM DEBT

Orion
convertible

credit
(i)

Sprott
convertible

credit
(ii)

Silver 
stream

(iii)

Lease
liability

(iv) 

Equinox
loan
(v) 

Other
Total

As at December 31, 2019 $ - $ - $ - $ 187 $ - $ - $ 187
Principal repayment - - - (82) - - (82)
As at December 31, 2020 - - - 105 - - 105
Fair value on inception 32,745 7,634 853 - - - 41,232
Loan advance - - - - 20,750 - 20,750
Equipment financing - - - - - 218 218
Disposals - - (897) - - - (897)
Lease additions and adjustments - - - 582 - - 582
Principal repayment - - (11) (100) (20,750) (10) (20,871)
Finance charge 211 51 - - - - 262
Fair value adjustments - - 55 - - - 55
As at December 31, 2021 $ 32,956 $ 7,685 $ - $ 587 $ - $ 208 $ 41,436
Less current portion - - - - - 58 58
Long-term portion $ 32,956 $ 7,685 $ - $ 587 $ - $ 150 $ 41,378

(i) Orion convertible credit

On December 13, 2021, the Company entered into a Convertible Credit Agreement with Orion to borrow $50 million. The Orion
convertible credit bears interest at a rate of 8.0% annually and matures on December 13, 2025. The Orion convertible credit contains a
change of control feature, a conversion feature, and a forced conversion feature that are considered embedded derivatives by the
Company. The change of control feature and conversion feature are classified as derivative financial liabilities, measured at FVPL,
whereas the forced conversion feature is classified as an equity instrument measured at fair value on inception and is not subsequently
remeasured. During the period, none of the features were exercised. The financial liability was recorded at $13.6 million at inception and
$18.5 million at December 31, 2021, resulting in a loss of $4.9 million being recorded through the statement of income. The equity
instrument was recorded at $2.0 million at inception and period end.

The Orion convertible note is presented in the balance sheet as follows:

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2021

Fair value of notes issued $ 50,000 -
Other liabilities (17,230) -
Other equity securities 2,029 -
Deferred financing costs and other (2,054) -

$ 32,745 -

Finance expense 211 -
Non-current liability $ 32,956 -

Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of 20.4% to the host liability component. Interest expense is included
in other income.

The initial fair value of the liability portion of the convertible loan was determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-
convertible loan at the issue date. The liability is subsequently recognized on an amortized cost basis until extinguished on control,
conversion or maturity of the loan. The remainder of the proceeds, after removing components classified as liabilities, is allocated to the
forced conversion option and recognized in shareholder's equity, net of income tax, and not subsequently remeasured.
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(ii) Sprott convertible credit

On December 10, 2021, the Company entered into a Convertible Credit Agreement with Sprott to borrow $10 million. The Sprott
convertible credit bears interest at a rate of 8.0% annually and matures on December 9, 2025. The Sprott convertible credit contains a
change of control feature, a conversion feature, and a forced conversion feature that are considered embedded derivatives by the
Company. The change of control feature and conversion feature are classified as derivative financial liabilities, measured at FVPL
whereas the forced conversion feature is classified as an equity instrument measured at fair value on inception and is not subsequently
remeasured. During the period, none of the features were exercised. The financial liability was recorded at $2.7 million at inception and
$3.9 million at December 31, 2021, resulting in a loss of $1.2 million being recorded through the statement of income. The equity
instrument was recorded at $0.4 million at inception and period end.

The Sprott convertible note is presented in the balance sheet as follows:

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2021

Fair value of notes issued $ 10,000 -
Other financial liabilities (2,733) -
Other equity securities 367 -

$ 7,634 -

Finance expense 51 -
Non-current liability $ 7,685 -

Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of 14.8% to the host liability component. Interest expense is included
in other income.

The initial fair value of the liability portion of the convertible loan was determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-
convertible loan at the issue date. The liability is subsequently recognized on an amortized cost basis until extinguished on control,
conversion or maturity of the loan. The remainder of the proceeds, after removing components classified as liabilities, is allocated to the
forced conversion option and recognized in shareholder's equity, net of income tax, and not subsequently remeasured.

(iii) Silver stream

On April 7, 2021, the Company entered into a Stream Agreement with Nomad, whereby the Company will deliver from South Arturo to
Nomad (i) 100% of the refined silver from minerals from the main stream area, and (ii) 50% of the refined silver from the exploration
stream area. Nomad will pay an ongoing cash purchase price equal to 20% of the silver market price on the day immediately
preceding the date of delivery. Following the delivery of an aggregate amount of refined silver equal to $1.0 million to Nomad under
the Stream Agreement, Nomad will continue to purchase the refined silver at an ongoing cash purchase price equal to 20% of the
prevailing silver price. The principal repayment on the liability is variable based on 80% of the silver price applied to ounces delivered
under the contract The Stream Agreement is unsecured and the initial term of the agreement is 40 years.

The liability has been recorded as a reduction in the equity issued on the spin-out of Premier USA to the Company as the agreement
resulted from the Silver Stream Agreement with Nomad that existed with Premier prior to the spin-out. The initial fair value of the
Silver stream recognized on inception was $0.9 million.

The silver stream is tied to production from South Arturo and the fair value as of October 14, 2021 has been included in the disposal
group classified as held for sale.

(iv) Lease liability

Lease liabilities relate to lease on a building which have a remaining lease term of three years and an interest rate at 3.3% over the
term of the lease.

The schedule of undiscounted lease payment obligations is as follows:
December 31,

2021
Less than one year $ 220
One to three years 400
Total undiscounted lease liabilities $ 620
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(v) Equinox loan agreement

Equinox Gold advanced to the Company a $20.8 million bridge loan that the Company then advanced to Premier USA for the
purposes of making a deposit with affiliates of Waterton in partial satisfaction of the purchase price payable to Waterton for the
acquisition of the Granite Creek Project as further described in Note 1(b) of these Consolidated Financial Statements. The loan
matured April 16, 2021, 10 days following the closing of the arrangement and bore interest at a rate of 5% per annum payable in
arrears on the maturity date. The loan was secured against the assets of the Company, Premier and Premier USA, and subordinated
to the security of Premier's existing secured creditors. The loan matured and the principal balance of $20.8 million along with accrued
interest of $0.06 million was repaid through a combination of the Equinox Gold subscription receipts in the amount of $19.2 million
and the remainder in cash following the closing of the Transaction.

14. PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION

The Company's provision for environmental rehabilitation results from mining equipment and previously mined property interests. The
provision consists primarily of costs associated with mine reclamation and closure activities. These activities, which tend to be site
specific, generally include costs for decommissioning the mill complex and related infrastructure, physical and chemical stability of the
tailings area and, post-closure site security and monitoring costs. The Company considers such factors as changes in laws and
regulations, and requirements under existing permits in determining the estimated costs. Such analysis is performed on an on-going
basis.

The Company estimates that the undiscounted un-inflated future value of the cash flows required to settle the provision is $6,000 for the
McCoy-Cove property, $2,239 for the Granite Creek property, $56,957 for the Lone Tree property and $21,748 for the Ruby Hill property.
In calculating the best estimate of the Company's provision, management used risk-free interest rates ranging from 1.52% to 1.94%. A
reconciliation of the discounted provision is provided below:

McCoy-
Cove

South
Arturo

Granite
Creek

Lone 
Tree

Ruby 
Hill Total

Balance, January 1, 2021 $ 4,728 $ 3,427 $ - $ - $ - $ 8,155
Acquisitions (Note 1(b)) - - 2,051 60,475 23,208 85,734
Change in estimate capitalized 1,842 - 318 - (80) 2,080
Accretion expense 114 44 25 117 51 351
Disposals (Note 4) - (3,471) - - - (3,471)
Balance, December 31, 2021 6,684 - 2,394 60,592 23,179 92,849
Long-term portion $ 6,684 $ - $ 2,394 $ 60,592 $ 23,179 $ 92,849

McCoy-
Cove

South
Arturo Total

Balance, January 1, 2021 $ 4,068 $ 3,159 $ 7,227
Change in estimate capitalized 750 221 971
Accretion expense 56 47 103
Reclamation expenditures (146) - (146)
Balance, December 31, 2020 4,728 3,427 8,155
Less current portion 48 1 49
Long-term portion $ 4,680 $ 3,426 $ 8,106
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15. OTHER LIABILITIES

December 31, December 31,
2021        2021

Warrant liability (i) $ 15,465 $ -
Share-based payment liability (ii) - 432
Orion - Conversion and change of controls rights (iii) 18,534 -
Sprott - Conversion and change of controls rights (iii) 3,895 -
Deferred consideration (iv) 42,543 -
Offtake liability (v) 730 -
Total other liabilities 81,167 432
Less current portion 15,795 332
Long-term portion $ 65,372 $ 100

(i) Warrant liability

In connection with the Plan of Arrangement with Equinox discussed in Note 1 (a) of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the
Company issued 7.73 million Common Share Purchase Warrants (“warrants”) which are exercisable into one fully paid and non-
assessable common share of the Company at an exercise price of C$3.64 per share until October 7, 2022. The warrants included a
four month hold period.  The initial fair value of the warrants recognized on inception was $2.9 million and at December 31, 2021, was
$2.2 million.

In connection with the Transaction, the Company assumed a warrant liability for 40% of 2 million Premier warrants that were
outstanding with Orion Mine Finance on the date the Transaction.  On the exercise of the warrants, the Company will issue 800,000
shares of the Company in settlement.  The liability has been recorded as a reduction in the equity issued on the spin-out of Premier
USA to the Company. The initial fair value of the replacement warrants recognized on inception was $0.5 million and at December 31,
2021, was $0.8 million.

In connection with the Acquisition of Osgood as further described in Note 1(b) of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the
Company issued 12.1 million warrants which are exercisable into one fully paid and non-assessable common share of the Company
at an exercise price of C$3.64 per share until April 14, 2024. The warrants included a four month hold period.  The initial fair value of
the warrants recognized on inception was $6.1 million and at December 31, 2021, was $9.0 million.

In connection with the financing as further described in Note 1(d) of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company issued
5.5 million common share warrants exercisable at C$3.275 per share with an exercise period of 36 months or until December 13,
2024. The fair value of the warrants at inception and at December 31, 2021 was $3.5 million. 

The warrants are considered derivatives because their exercise price is in C$ whereas the Company’s functional currency is in USD. 
Accordingly, the Company recognizes the warrants as liabilities at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. For
the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized a loss on the revaluation of the liability of $2.5 million.

The fair value of the warrants were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, or a Monte Carlo simulation model, if
applicable taking into the account the four months hold restriction, and with the following weighted average assumptions:

December 31, April
2021 2021

Risk free rate 0.18% - 0.69% 0.15% - 0.48%
Warrant expected life 4 to 30 months 10 to 36 months
Expected volatility 50% to 57% 46% to 64%
Expected dividend 0% 0%
Share price C$3.11 C$2.51

The fair value of the warrants recognized on inception, were calculated using Premier’s share price volatility, and at
December 31, 2021, using i-80 Gold’s share price volatility.

(ii) Share-based payment liability

The share-based payment liability of $0.4 million previously recorded in Premier USA, was settled as a result of the closing of the
Transaction.
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(iii) Conversion and change of controls right

The financial liability represents the conversion and change of control rights included in the Orion and Sprott Convertible Loans as further
described in Note 1(b),  Note 13 and Note 26(d)  of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

(iv) Deferred consideration

In connection with the acquisition of Ruby Hill the Company recorded a financial liability associated with the milestone payments subject
to an early prepayment option, as further described in Note 1(b) of these Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company recognizes
the liability at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. The initial fair value of the liability recognized on inception
was $41.9 million and at December 31, 2021, was $42.5 million. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized a loss
on the revaluation of the liability of $0.6 million.

(v) Offtake liability

The financial liability represents the gold lookback component of the offtake agreement discussed in Note 1(b) and Note 26(d) of these
Consolidated Financial Statements.

16. SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Authorized share capital

At December 31, 2021, the authorized share capital consisted of an unlimited number of common shares without par value.

(b) Issued share capital

On April 7, 2021, just prior to the completion of the Arrangement discussed in Note 1(a), the Company issued 137,624,461 common
shares to Premier for the transfer of its investment in Premier USA to the Company for the carrying amount of its investment, C$189.2
million ($150.6 million) offset by C$5.5 million ($4.4 million) allocated to the equity settled employee benefits reserve for replacement
options, C$1.1 million ($0.9 million) for the transfer of the South Arturo silver stream, C$0.7 million ($0.6 million) for transfer of the offtake
agreement  and C$0.7 million ($0.5 million) for replacement warrants issued pursuant to the arrangement.

On April 7, 2021, the Company issued 30,914,614 common shares at a price of C$2.60 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of
approximately C$80.4 million ($60.8 million) for completing the private placement discussed in Note 1(a). This issuance also included the
issuance of 7,728,654 share purchase warrants at an exercise price of C$3.64 with an expiration date of October 7, 2022. A cash
commission was paid equal to 5.25% of the gross proceeds, other than (i) on proceeds from the sale of shares to Orion Mine Finance
Group and any directors or officers of the Company or Premier for which the commission was reduced to 2.5% of the gross proceeds
received and (ii) on proceeds from the sale of shares to Equinox, for which no commission was paid.

On April 14, 2021, the Company issued 13,036,846 common shares at a price of C$2.60 per common share for total gross proceeds of
$27.0 million (C$33.9 million) as part of the consideration on the acquisition of the Osgood Mining Company LLC property further
discussed in Note 1(b).

On May 10, 2021, the Company issued 2,430,488 common shares at a price of C$2.50 per common share for total gross proceeds of
$5.0 million (C$6.1 million) as part of the consideration on the acquisition of the Christison properties, as discussed in Note 1(b).

On May 26, 2021, the Company issued 5,479,536 common shares at a price of C$2.60 per common share for aggregate gross proceeds
of $11.8 million (C$14.2 million) in satisfaction of an anti-dilution right of Equinox contemplated in the Agreement and immediately prior to
the closing of the Christison Acquisition.

On October 14, 2021, in connection with the Asset Exchange, the Company issued 22,757,393 common shares at a price of C$2.62 to
NGM for gross proceeds of $47.4 million.

On October 14, 2021, the Company issued 8,784,122 common shares at a price of C$2.62 per common share for gross proceeds of
$18.3 million in connection with a private placement.

On October 14, 2021, the Company entered into a Subscription Agreement with Orion whereby Orion agreed to purchase 7,500,000
common shares of the Company for $15.6 million.

On October 18, 2021, the Company issued 3,191,358 common shares to Waterton as partial consideration for the acquisition of Ruby Hill
of $8.0 million.
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On October 21, 2021, the Company issued 839,799 common shares to Orion as a fee $1.75 million for the transfer of the Offtake
Agreement in connection with the Asset Exchange.

On December 9, 2021, the Company issued 4,800,000 common shares at a price of C$2.62 for gross proceeds of $10.0 million to
Equinox in satisfaction of an anti-dilution right within the Agreement.   

(c) Share option plan

The Company has a share purchase compensation plan (the "Plan") which is restricted to directors, officers, key employees and
consultants of the Company. The number of common shares subject to options granted under the Plan (and under all other management
options and employee stock purchase plans) is limited to 10% in the aggregate and 1% with respect to any one optionee of the number of
issued and outstanding common shares of i-80 Gold at the date of the grant of the option. Options issued under the Plan may be
exercised during a period determined by the Company's Board of Directors which cannot exceed ten years.

(d) Stock options

The Company has a share option plan (the "Plan") which is restricted to directors, officers, key employees and consultants of the
Company. The number of common shares subject to options granted under the Plan (and under all other management options and
employee stock purchase plans) is limited to 10% in the aggregate and 1% with respect to any one optionee of the number of issued and
outstanding common shares of the Company at the date of the grant of the option. Options issued under the Plan may be exercised
during a period determined by the Company's Board of Directors which cannot exceed ten years.

The continuity of the Premier stock options that were outstanding and subsequently settled in connection with the spin-out, the
replacement options that were issued by the Company, and the new options granted in accordance with the Share Option Plan are as
follows:

Options
outstanding

Weighted
average price

# C$
Outstanding at January 1, 2019 2,508,000 $2.39
Granted 780,000 1.37
Exercised (33,000) 1.99
Forfeited (11,000) 1.66
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 3,244,000 2.15
Exercised (62,000) 1.46
Expired (9,000) 3.18
Outstanding at April 7, 2021 3,173,000 2.19
Settled in connection with Premier USA spin-out (3,173,000) 2.19
Replacement options issued (Note 1(a)) 5,722,000 1.88
Granted 2,975,000 2.74
Exercised (1,345,200) 1.75
Expired (662,800) 2.79
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 6,689,000 $2.21

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the year ended December 31, 2021 was C$2.56.

At December 31, 2021, the following options were outstanding, and outstanding and exercisable:

Outstanding Outstanding and Exercisable

Exercise price Options

Weighted
average exercise

price

Weighted
average

remaining life Options

Weighted
average exercise

price

Weighted
average

remaining life
CAD # C$ in years # C$ in years
$1.18 - $1.87 2,426,800 $1.27 2.69 2,426,800 $1.27 2.69
$2.51 - $2.79 3,810,400 2.67 2.94 2,652,900 2.68 2.43
$3.10 - $3.69 451,800 3.35 3.87 6,800 3.10 0.08

6,689,000 $2.21 3.09 5,086,500 $2.12 2.66
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Total vested stock options at December 31, 2021 were 5,086,500 with a weighted average exercise price of C$2.12 (3,244,000 at
December 31, 2020 with a weighted average exercise price of C$2.15).

The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for all share-based compensation awards and accordingly, $2.7 million was
recorded for options issued as compensation during the year ended December 31, 2021 ($1.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020). The options had a weighted average grant date fair value of C$1.06 at December 31, 2021. As of
December 31, 2021, there were 1,602,500 unvested stock options (nil at December 31, 2020).

For purposes of the options granted, the fair value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, with the following assumptions:

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Risk-free interest rate 0.09%-0.75% 0.59%
Annualized volatility based on historic volatility (i) 32%-62% 57%
Expected dividend Nil Nil
Forfeiture rate Nil Nil
Expected option life 4 years 4 years

(i) The Company used Premier’s share price history as the estimated volatility rate.

(e) Restricted Share Unit Plan 

The Company adopted the Restricted Share Unit ("RSU") plan to allow i-80’s Board of Directors to grant its employees nontransferable
share units based on the value of the Company's share price at the date of grant. The awards have a graded vesting schedule over a
three-year period. Under the RSU plan, the awards can be equity or cash settled immediately upon vesting. 

The following table summarizes the continuity of the RSUs for the period ended December 31, 2021, the RSUs were settled in shares of
i-80 Gold and Equinox Gold and the corresponding liability was reversed in conjunction with the closing of the Arrangement discussed in
Note 1(a):

RSUs
outstanding

Weighted
average RSU

price
# C$

Outstanding at January 1, 2020 253,333 $1.97
Granted 451,000 1.19
Settled (286,000) 2.66
Forfeited (4,667) 1.19
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 413,666 3.01
Settled in connection with Premier USA spin-out (413,666) 1.38
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 - -

For purposes of the vesting of the RSUs, the fair value of the liability was estimated using the share price of Premier's shares on the
valuation date and an expected weighted average forfeiture rate of 15%.
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(f) Share-based payments

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Stock option valuation $ 2,116 $ 341
RSU valuation 980 886
Sub-total 3,096 1,227
Reversal of RSU liability (413) -
Total $ 2,683 $ 1,227

(g) Deferred Share Unit Plan

The Company adopted the Deferred Share Unit ("DSU") plan to grant to eligible members of the Board of Directors, eligible employees
and eligible contractors. The DSUs are non-transferable share units based on the value of the Company's share price at the date of grant.
The awards have a graded vesting schedule over a three-year period. Under the DSU plan, the awards can be equity or cash settled
immediately upon vesting. As of December 31, 2021, there were no DSU’s outstanding.

17. BASIC AND DILUTED INCOME / (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic income / (loss) per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents
outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2021, and 2020. Diluted income / (loss) per share is based on the assumption that
stock options and warrants that have an exercise price less than the average market price of the Company's common shares during the
period have been exercised on the later of the beginning of the year and the date granted. Net income / (loss) and basic weighted
average shares outstanding are reconciled to diluted net income / (loss) and diluted weighted average shares outstanding, respectively,
as follows:

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Income / (loss) from continuing operations $ 76,620 $ (12,490)
Income from discontinued operations 11,603 9,716
Net income / (loss) for the year 88,223 (2,774)

Basic  weighted average shares outstanding 148,288,884 481
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 153,041,598 481

Basic income / (loss) per share from continuing operations 0.52 (25,967)
Diluted income / (loss) loss per share from continuing operations 0.50 (25,967)
Basic  income per share from discontinued operations 0.08 20,200
Diluted income per share from discontinued operations 0.08 20,200
Basic income / (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ (5,767)
Diluted income / (loss) per share $ 0.58 $ (5,767)

Diluted earnings per share included warrants and options that are issued and in the money at December 31, 2021. The dilutive impact
has been calculated using the treasury stock method. The impact of the convertible loans have been ignored as the impact is anti-
dilutive. 1,091,800 options and warrants were excluded from the calculation.
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18. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The following table summarizes the increase and decrease in working capital:

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Receivables $ (303) $ -
Receivable from related parties (4) 1
Prepaids and deposits (4,013) (2,715)
Inventory (4,575) -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,767 (491)
Increase / (decrease) in working capital $ 2,872 $ (3,205)

19. EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND PRE-DEVELOPMENT

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
McCoy Cove $ 1,137 $ 3,316
Granite Creek 8,423 -
Ruby Hill 825 -
Other technical services 92 250

$ 10,477 $ 3,566

20. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Corporate administration $ 2,740 $ 131
Salaries and benefits 4,451 882
Professional fees 3,265 113

$ 10,456 $ 1,126

21. RESTRUCTURING COST

As a result of the plan of arrangement discussed in Note 1 of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company recorded $4.4
million in restructuring costs. These costs, as shown below, included $2.5 million of severance costs for change in control payments to
executives associated with the Company’s operations, and $2.0 million of withholding tax that was paid by i-80 Gold, as an agent, on
behalf of Premier. As the withholding tax does not belong to i-80 Gold, and as Premier is owned by Equinox Gold, the Company recorded
the withholding tax as a restructuring cost.

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Severance costs $ 2,472 $ -
Withholding tax 1,972 -

$ 4,444 $ -
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22. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

Results of the operating segments are reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision makers ("CODM") to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segments and to assess their performance. Each CODM is a member of the senior management team
who rely on management positioned in each operating segment of the Company.

(a) Operating mine property, pre-development and exploration projects

The Company's operating segments are reported by operating and development mine properties and exploration projects grouped with
corporate. The results from operations for these reportable segments are summarized in the following tables:

Continuing operations

Year ended December 31, 2021
Nevada

Production Exploration
Corporate
and other Total

Discontinued
operations Total

Revenue $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 31,991 $ 31,991
Cost of sales - - - - (17,207) (17,207)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization - - - - (1,691) (1,691)
Exploration, evaluation and pre-development (829) (9,613) (35) (10,477) (1,034) (11,511)
Overhead costs (29) (363) (13,134) (13,526) (175) (13,701)
Restructuring cost - - (4,444) (4,444) - (4,444)
Other expense 134,719 (127) (8,295) 126,297 (28) 126,269
Finance expense - - (1,177) (1,177) - (1,177)
Income / (loss) before income taxes 133,861 (10,103) (27,085) 96,673 11,856 108,529
Current tax expense - - (200) (200) (253) (453)
Deferred tax recovery (27,704) - 7,851 (19,853) - (19,853)
Income / (loss) for the year $ 106,157 $ (10,103) $ (19,434) $ 76,620 $ 11,603 $ 88,223

Continuing operations

Year ended December 31, 2020
Nevada

Production Exploration
Corporate
and other Total

Discontinued
operations Total

Revenue $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 37,133 $ 37,133
Cost of sales - - - - (21,709) (21,709)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization - - - - (4,124) (4,124)
Exploration, evaluation and pre-development - (2,823) (743) (3,566) (625) (4,191)
Overhead costs - (341) (2,326) (2,667) (52) (2,719)
Other income / (expense) - (273) (1,398) (1,671) 46 (1,625)
Finance expense - - (4,586) (4,586) - (4,586) -
Income / (loss) before income taxes - (3,437) (9,053) (12,490) 10,669 (1,821) -
Current tax expense - - - - (953) (953) -
Income / (loss) for the year $ - $ (3,437) $ (9,053) $ (12,490) $ 9,716 $ (2,774)

As at December 31, 2021
Nevada

Production Exploration
Corporate
and other Total

Discontinued
operations Total

Capital expenditures $ 368,503 $ 68,856 $ 932 $ 440,141 $ 2,366 $ 442,507
Property, plant & equipment 363,715 138,056 878 502,649 - 502,649
Total assets 415,913 140,680 99,756 656,349 - 656,349
Total liabilities 159,311 10,971 79,089 249,371 - 249,371

As at December 31, 2020
Nevada

Production Exploration
Corporate
and other Total

Discontinued
operations Total

Capital expenditures $ - $ 7,661 $ - $ 7,661 $ 1,370 $ 9,031
Property, plant & equipment 34,634 57,878 7,643 100,155 - 100,155
Total assets 72,510 59,013 11,709 143,232 - 143,232
Total liabilities 18,237 4,866 136,668 159,771 - 159,771

38



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

23. INCOME TAXES

(a) The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Current income tax $ 200 $ -
Deferred income tax 19,853 -
Income tax expense $ 20,053 $ -

(b) The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Income / (loss) before income tax $ 108,276 $ (12,490)
Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates 29,235 %27 (3,372) %27

Increase / (decrease) due to:
Permanent differences 518 - (303) 2
Impact of foreign tax rates (7,575) (7) 749 (6)
Other foreign exchange differences 959 1 - -
Change in unrecognized deferred taxes (3,214) (3) 2,921 (23)
Other 130 - 5 -
Income tax expense $ 20,053 %19 $ - %-

(c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset where they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Company has the legal right and intent to offset.

Movement in net deferred tax liabilities:

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Balance at the beginning of year $ - $ -
Recognized in profit / (loss) 19,853 -
Balance at the end of the year $ 19,853 $ -

The Company recognizes deferred taxes by taking into account the effects of local enacted tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are fully
recognized when the Company concludes that sufficient positive evidence exists to demonstrate that it is probable that a deferred tax
asset will be realized. The main factors that the Company considers are:

 Historic and expected future taxable income;

 Any tax planning that can be implemented to realize the tax assets; and

 The nature, amount and timing and reversal of taxable temporary differences.

Future income is impacted by changes in market gold and silver prices as well as forecasted future costs and expenses to produce gold
and silver reserves. In addition the quantities of proven and probable gold and silver reserves, market interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates also impact future levels of taxable income. Any change in any of these factors will result in an adjustment to the
recognition of deferred tax assets to reflect the Company's latest assessment of the amount of deferred tax assets that is probable will be
realized.
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The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets / (liabilities) presented in the consolidated statements of financial position:

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Deferred income tax assets
Unused losses $ 8,117 $ 4,916
Capital asset - 720
Financing costs 562 -
Asset retirement obligation 14,188 1,712
Other 4,131 1,880
Gross deferred tax asset 26,998 9,228
Offset by deferred income tax liabilities (23,316) (3,266)
Net deferred tax asset $ 3,682 $ 5,962

Deferred income tax liabilities
Inventory $ (350) $ (315)
Capital assets (39,492) -
Other (3,327) (2,951)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (43,169) (3,266)
Deferred income tax liabilities used to offset deferred tax asset 23,316 3,266
Net deferred income tax assets / (liabilities) $ (19,853) $ -

(d) Deferred tax assets not recognized

The deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses in respect of which a deferred tax asset has not been recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2021 2021

Canada United States Canada United States
Deferred tax assets not recognized
Loss carry forwards $ 5,078 $ - $ - $ 23,408
Property, plant and equipment and mineral interests - - - 944
Conversion feature 8,493 - - -
Financing costs 2,082 - - -
Other 82 - - 4,041

$ 15,735 $ - $ - $ 28,393

Canadian non capital loss carry-forwards $ 5,078 $ - $ - $ -
United States loss carry-forwards - - - 20,408

$ 5,078 $ - $ - $ 20,408

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties include key management personnel and entities which have control or significant influence as described in Note 1 and
2(b) of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Related party transactions included in these Consolidated Financial Statements are with Premier, the former parent company. Prior to the
closing of the Transaction the Company also participated in related party transactions with Minera Mercedes Minerales S. de R.L. de
C.V., a sister company, but which relate solely to reimbursement of expenses paid on each company's behalf and which do not result in
revenue or expense to the Company.

The following are related party transactions, recorded at the exchange amount as agreed to by the parties. The figures noted below are
for the year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2020:

(i) The Company recognized revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, of $32.0 million ($37.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020) from the sale of gold and silver under the transfer pricing agreement with Premier as further described in Note
6  of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(ii) Included in related party interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021, is interest accrued on the intercompany loan
payable to Premier in the amount of $1.2 million ($4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020) as further described in Note
12 of these Consolidated Financial Statements, and interest paid to Equinox of $0.06 million (nil for the year ended
December 31, 2020) for the bridge loan further described in Note 1(a) of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

(iii) Included on the statement of financial position in the comparative period are amounts payable to Premier.

(iv) Included on the statement of financial position in the comparative period is a loan payable to Premier in the form of an
intercompany note as further described in Note 12 of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

(v) Included in the statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021, is the proceeds from Equinox and the subsequent
repayment to Equinox for the $20.75 million bridge loan further described in Note 1(a) of these Financial Statements.

(vi) Included in operating expenses is share-based payments of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 ($1.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020). The share-based payments are for allocation of expenses from Premier as further described in
Note 16 of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

(vii) Included in operating expenses is transition services costs of $0.2 million to Premier for the  year ended December 31, 2021 (nil for
the year ended December 31, 2020). The transition services costs are for general and administrative services provided by Premier
to the Company’s head office in Reno, Nevada.

(viii) In April 2021, the Company modified a portion of its intercompany note payable to Premier to change the repayment currency from
CAD to USD. This modification resulted in the extinguishment of the original intercompany note and recognition of a new
intercompany note, with the difference of $8.8 million recorded directly into surplus / (deficit), as further described in Note 1(c) of
these Consolidated Financial Statements

Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management personnel include the executive leadership team and members of the Board of Directors. Compensation for key
management personnel was as follows:

Compensation of executive leadership team

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Salary, wages and benefits $ 1,597 $ -
Share-based payments 1,198 -
Total compensation of executive leadership team $ 2,795 $ -

Compensation of directors

Year ended
December 31,

2021 2021
Fees earned and other remuneration $ 242 $ -
Share-based payments 423 -
Total compensation of directors $ 665 $ -

25. COMMITMENTS

(a) Surety bonds

At December 31, 2021, the Company has outstanding surety bonds in the amount of $121.0 million in favor of either the United States
Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management ("BLM"), or the State of Nevada, Department of Conservation & Natural
Resources as financial support for environmental reclamation and exploration permitting. This includes replacement bonds for the Lone
Tree project and the Ruby Hill property in the amounts of $85.4 million and $22.8 million, respectively. The surety bonds are secured by a
$30.7 million deposit and are subject to fees competitively determined in the marketplace. The obligations associated with these
instruments are generally related to performance requirements that the Company addresses through its ongoing operations. As specific
requirements are met, the BLM and State of Nevada as beneficiary of the instruments, will return the instruments to the issuing entity. As
these instruments are associated with operating sites with long-lived assets, they will remain outstanding until closure.

41



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Stated in thousands of United States Dollars)

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company's operations include the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties in United States of America. The Company
examines the various financial risks to which it is exposed and assesses the impact and likelihood of occurrence. These risks may
include credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and other risks. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored
by the Board of Directors.

(a) Credit risk

Counterparty credit risk is the risk that the financial benefits of contracts with a specific counterparty will be lost if a counterparty defaults
on its obligations under the contract. This includes any cash amounts owed to the Company by those counterparties, less any amounts
owed to the counterparty by the Company where a legal right of setoff exists and also includes the fair values of contracts with individual
counterparties which are recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(i) Trade credit risk

The Company closely monitors its financial assets and does not have any significant concentration of trade credit risk. The Company
sells its products exclusively to large international financial institutions and other organizations with strong credit ratings. The
historical level of customer defaults is negligible and, as a result, the credit risk associated with trade receivables is considered to be
negligible. The trade receivable balance outstanding at December 31, 2021 was nil (December 31, 2020 - $10.3 million).

(ii) Cash 

In order to manage credit and liquidity risk the Company invests only in highly rated investment grade instruments that have
maturities of 90 days or less and which are cashable after 30 days or less into a known amount of cash. Limits are also established
based on the type of investment, the counterparty and the credit rate. The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is therefore
negligible.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company manages
liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure.

The following table summarizes the Company's contractual maturities and the timing of cashflows as at December 31, 2021. The
amounts presented are based on the undiscounted contractual cash flows and may not agree with the carrying amounts on the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Up to 1 year 1-5 years Total
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 14,066 $ - $ 14,066
Convertible loans - 60,000 60,000
Deferred consideration 17,000 30,000 47,000

$ 31,066 $ 90,000 $ 121,066

(c) Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates.  As the Company holds excess cash in interest bearing bank accounts rather than investments, the interest rate risk is
minimal.

(ii) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk
arises when future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
Company’s functional currency. The Company’s management monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and
acts accordingly.
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(d) Fair value

(i) Definitions

IFRS 13 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the input to valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows:

Level 1:quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

(ii) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

The Company calculates fair values based on the following methods of valuation and assumptions:

a. Financial assets

Financial assets other than the Company's investment described below are carried at amortized cost. The fair value of cash and cash
equivalents and receivables approximate their carrying value due to their short-term nature.

The Company's investment as further described in Note 8 of these Consolidated Financial Statements is classified within level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy and is fair valued using the common share price from the most recent subscription agreement.

b. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities not classified as FVPL are carried at amortized cost. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their
carrying value due to their short term nature.

Deferred consideration related to Ruby Hill was recognized at fair value on acquisition and at December 31, 2021. This liability is
classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as it involves managements best estimate of whether or not the key activities required
for each milestone payment will be achieved. Management has assumed that all milestones will be achieved and the early repayment
option will be taken so the fair value of the deferred consideration is the $47 million discounted at 7.5%.

The fair value of the loan payable to Premier approximates the carrying value as the interest rates are comparable to current market
rates. 

The share-based payment and warrant liabilities are classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and are fair valued using a
valuation model that incorporates such factors as the Company’s share price volatility, risk free rates and expiry dates including
managements assumptions on forfeiture rates.

The silver stream liability is classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and is fair valued using the net present value of expected
future cash flows based on management assumptions on silver deliveries under the stream and a discount rate that includes the risk
premium that market participants require.

The Finance Package is classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and is fair valued using credit spread calculated at inception
and simulating out the expected movement in gold, silver and the Company’s share price whilst considering key assumptions like the
discount rate that includes the risk premium that market participants require, the volatility in the Company’s share price and the discount
for lack of marketability.
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(iii)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the periods ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

Orion Sprott

Silver stream
liability

Deferred
consideration

Conversion
and change of
control rights

Forced
conversion

rights

A&R Offtake
gold lookback

option

Conversion
and change of
control rights

Forced
conversion

rights
January 1, 2020 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
December 31, 2020 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Initial recognition (853) (41,895) (13,599) 2,029 (577) (2,733) 367
Principal repayment 11 - - - - - -
Disposals 897 - - - - - -
Fair value adjustments (55) (648) (4,935) - (153) (1,162) -
December 31, 2021 $ - $ (42,543) $ (18,534) $ 2,029 $ (730) $ (3,895) $ 367

(iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The valuation of the Convertible Loans and related embedded derivatives were dependent on the changes in the prices of the underlying
assets and probability a change of control event would be expected to occur on December 13, 2023.

The following table summarizes the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements:

As at December 31, 2021 Unobservable input Fair Value Change in Fair Value
Assumption: %25 %30 %50
Orion - Conversion Option and Change of Control Option Change of control probability (13,599) (141) (702)
Sprott - Conversion Option and Change of Control Option Change of control probability (2,733) (32) (161)

27. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL

The Company manages its share capital and equity settled employee benefits reserve as capital, the balance of which is $363.9 million at
December 31, 2021 ($17.4 million at December 31, 2020). The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Company's ability to continue as a going-concern in order to pursue the exploration and development of its mineral properties and to
maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the costs of capital at an acceptable risk.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares,
acquire or dispose of assets or acquire new debt.

In order to maximize ongoing exploration efforts, the Company does not pay out dividends. The Company's investment policy is to invest
its short-term excess cash in highly liquid short-term interest-bearing investments with short-term maturities, selected with regard to the
expected timing of expenditures from continuing operations.

To effectively manage its capital requirements, the Company has in place a planning and budgeting process to help determine the funds
required to ensure the Company has the appropriate liquidity to meet its operating and growth objectives. In connection with the financing
described in Note 1 of these Consolidated Financial Statements the Company expects it will have sufficient capital to carry out its
exploration and evaluation plans through 2022.

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Gold Prepay Agreement as further described in Note 1(d) of these Consolidated Financial Statements was amended in March, 2022
to provide that commencing on March 31, 2022, the Company will deliver to Orion 1,600 troy ounces of gold for the calendar quarter
ending March 31, 2022, 3,100 troy ounces of gold for the calendar quarter ending June 30, 2022 and thereafter, 2,100 troy ounces of gold
per calendar quarter until September 30, 2025, in satisfaction of the $45 million prepayment.
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